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For journalists everywhere




        Introduction to the Paperback Edition

        When the hardcover edition of this book was published in late summer 2020, the presidential campaign was about to enter its final phase. Donald Trump was obsessed with winning. He believed that beating Democratic nominee Joe Biden in November would vindicate his claim of being the target of the “greatest Witch Hunt of all time.” Victory would be his way of proving that his impeachment for abuse of power and obstruction of Congress was bogus. He regarded himself as the indisputable Republican kingmaker, the candidate with unshakable followers who could draw bigger crowds than anybody else. He would defy those who said his mishandling of the coronavirus pandemic had left him vulnerable. He would make historians describe him as a president in a class by himself—the first to be impeached and then reelected. Acquitted by the Senate, and then acquitted at the ballot box.

        But he lost. It was not even close.

        Yet Trump, gifted in spinning his own reality and making some believe it, refused to concede. Since spring, he had been warning that the Democrats were trying to “rig” the outcome. On election night, as several swing states went in Biden’s direction, Trump kept up his attacks. To the alarm of many, including some inside the White House, he continually tweeted his false mantra: No way had he lost. The election had been “stolen.” It was a “fraud.” He would not allow the Democrats to get away with this “theft.” He sent lawyers to courts in six battleground states, filing dozens of lawsuits. He took to the airwaves and social media, summoning his supporters to a “Stop the Steal” rally on January 6, the day that Congress would accept the electoral votes and certify Biden’s victory.

        The rally began with Trump’s call to “fight like hell” and ended in deadly violence. Hundreds of men and women, some wearing tactical gear and carrying weapons, attacked the U.S. Capitol, smashing barriers, shattering windows, thrashing and injuring police officers. Millions watched the now-infamous riot in real time. Congress stopped the vote certification as the vice president, House members and senators fled to hiding places in nearby offices. American democracy, so stable for so long, had reached a moment that many once thought unthinkable: Suspended, in limbo, threatened by Americans so outraged by the outcome of a legitimate election that they were willing to block the peaceful transfer of power by a direct assault on the Capitol itself.

        Some of those arrested later told investigators that they believed Trump—their president, their commander in chief—had given them permission to use force. Polls showed that the riot had damaged Trump’s standing. Members of his own cabinet quit. Republican members of Congress, who had never dared to criticize Trump, now went on TV and said he had crossed a line. With days left in his presidency, Trump was impeached again, on a charge of inciting insurrection. This time, ten House Republicans joined the Democrats to vote against him. Now historians would describe Trump in a new way, and not the one he wanted: the first president ever impeached twice.

        So, for this paperback edition, we have expanded the reporting to include Trump’s tumultuous final months in the White House, adding four new chapters, a new epilogue and a new title: Trump’s Trials.

        Long before more than two dozen Democrats announced their intentions to run in 2020, Trump recognized that Joe Biden posed the biggest threat to his reelection. A July 2019 phone call, during which Trump pushed a foreign leader to target Biden for investigation, triggered the first impeachment. A riot, intended to stop Biden from taking office, led to the second.

        This is the story of both impeachments and Senate trials, and how Donald Trump used and abused his presidential power.

        —Kevin Sullivan and Mary Jordan

        Washington, June 2021

    
        
Note to Readers

        The reporting and research for this book came from the combined efforts of more than 50 Washington Post journalists. As a starting point, we relied on their published stories, which were informed by hundreds of interviews conducted as the Trump impeachments and trials unfolded. In a few instances, we chose to incorporate parts of those stories into the narrative, as we found them to be the best account of the events described.

        We and other Washington Post journalists also did extensive original reporting, including dozens of interviews with central figures in the impeachment proceedings, as well as with staff members, colleagues and friends of those involved. Most of the interviews were on the record. But some sources requested anonymity to speak more freely and candidly about such divisive events. In those cases, we confirmed their accounts with others with knowledge of the same events.

        We also mined the extensive public record of witness interviews, depositions, testimony and floor speeches from the House of Representatives and the Senate. The archive of C-SPAN deserves a special mention. Not only does C-SPAN have video of every House and Senate session, it has recordings and transcriptions of countless press conferences and events outside the Capitol, allowing us to watch them again and again, as if we were present.

        Our ambition for this book was to provide a narrative account of not only what happened in the two Trump impeachments and trials, but how and why. To that end: When we report or describe someone’s thoughts or feelings, or say that someone “knows” something, we are drawing on interviews with that person, with someone directly familiar with that person’s thinking and knowledge, or from that individual’s testimony in the first impeachment inquiry. In some cases, we benefited from notes taken during meetings and shared with us.

        Donald Trump’s thoughts and views can be found in the voluminous public record that he created daily during his presidency—including his tweets, his television interviews and his encounters with the media during the nearly two years of events covered by this book.

    
        
            
Prologue

            March 6, 2019, Washington, DC, and Kyiv, Ukraine

            Nancy Pelosi strode into her majestic office suite in the U.S.
                Capitol, her forehead marked with a prominent black smudge. It was Ash Wednesday,
                and the speaker of the U.S. House of Representatives had received her ashes that
                morning from Father Patrick Conroy, the House chaplain.

            “Father just came at me with a vengeance,”
                she joked to her waiting guest, Washington Post reporter Joe Heim, with a big
                laugh. “People have gotten their ashes off of my forehead today because it was just,
                like, dripping.”

            It was a cold and gusty morning in Washington, which Heim could see through the speaker’s windows, with their stunning view of the National Mall. In her private office, the yellow walls covered with historic and family photographs gave the space a feel both commanding and comfortable. Four upholstered yellow wingback chairs flanked a fireplace. Her desk had no computer. The highest-ranking elected woman in American history still preferred face-to-face talks and phone calls to email. On display was a favorite gift—pink boxing gloves, monogrammed for the five-foot-two-inch fighter.

            Heim was there to interview Pelosi for a Q&A to be published in The Washington Post Magazine. He didn’t cover Congress. He had never met Pelosi. But he had immersed himself in her biography, a mixture of privilege, promise and prowess: Her political lineage, a mini-dynasty, her father winning five terms in the U.S. House, her father and brother each serving as Baltimore’s mayor. Her family’s towering influence on that city, wielding its power from a red-brick house in Little Italy with portraits of FDR and Harry Truman on the wall. Her early real-life lessons as the youngest of six children, and the only girl. Her formal education at an all-girls Catholic school and then at all-women Trinity, a small Catholic college in Washington, just three miles north of the Capitol, where she  watched President John F. Kennedy, the country’s first Catholic president, give his inaugural address on that frigid January day in 1961.

            Then, coming into her own: Her move to San Francisco, where she raised five children. Her immersion in community issues while her husband built the family’s wealth through real estate and other investments. Her volunteer work for local Democrats, gradually establishing her own political base. Her 17 terms in Congress and her rise to the top of her party’s ranks. Her election as speaker of the House in 2007, the first woman ever in the powerful post. Her strategic finesse in beating back a challenge to her leadership after the Democrats recaptured the House in the 2018 midterm elections. Her second stint in the job, a resurrection of sorts. Her current difficulties in controlling her rowdy and diverse caucus.

            Pelosi had also done her homework on Heim. She had learned he was a fellow Catholic who had spent five childhood years in Kenya, where his father had worked for Catholic Relief Services and his mother had been a State Department nurse. Heim was surprised by Pelosi’s preparation and attention to detail. “Tell me about growing up in Kenya!” she said, and then told him of taking her children to Kenya when they were young, going on a safari and a dig with famous anthropologist Dr. Louis Leakey.

            “I feel close to Kenya,” she said. “I found an ancient tooth there on an excavation.” She paused, adding dryly, “Not mine.”

            Preliminaries done, rapport established, Heim eased into the interview. It started with a no-fireworks discussion about the country’s political divisions, standard fare. Pelosi was waiting. She had a message to convey, something she wanted to say explicitly, more explicitly and forcefully than she had ever said it before. She didn’t need to force an opening. She knew Heim would ask the question. He had to. Members of her own caucus were asking it, too. She couldn’t avoid it, so she might as well confront it, contain it, control it.

            The Q&A format was perfect. She could guarantee the way her answers came out, without a media filter. She had a good phrase, she thought, a phrase that would stick, a phrase that CNN, Fox, MSNBC, all the other networks could reduce to one of their crawls at the bottom of the TV screen.

            The moment came, more as a statement than a question, as she was making light of her combative relationship with Donald Trump. Heim said, “There have been increasing calls, including from some of your members, for impeachment of the president.”

            Impeachment.

            She pounced. Leaning forward in her chair, she said deliberately, so deliberately that Heim could tell it was planned: “I’m going to give you some news right now because I haven’t said this to any press person before. But since you asked, and I’ve been thinking about this: Impeachment is so divisive to the country that unless there’s something so compelling and overwhelming and bipartisan, I don’t think we should go down that path, because it divides the country.”

            She pointed her index finger at Heim and, with an actor’s timing, slowed her delivery even more, making each word its own weighted sentence: “And. He’s. Just. Not. Worth. It.”

            

            The day before, in Kyiv, the capital of Ukraine, nearly 5,000 miles away, U.S. ambassador Marie “Masha” Yovanovitch had given a strikingly direct speech about the country’s pernicious and persistent corruption, a subject that had become her specialty during more than 30 years in the State Department.

            Danger isn’t always a part of a career diplomat’s biography, but it was central to Yovanovitch’s. She had been caught in crossfire during a violent showdown between Russia’s president and parliament, worked in an embassy in Uzbekistan sprayed with gunfire, served amid civil war in Somalia and heard the thud of falling artillery shells on the front lines of Ukraine’s war with Russia. She had managed to reach the age of 60 without getting hurt and without a blemish to her reputation.

            The diplomat’s life suited Yovanovitch. She was good at it. That’s what her colleagues and her awards told her. Her name wasn’t well known in Washington, but in the circles where she traveled, in the outposts where she had learned her craft, she had a reputation for being tough, fair and direct. Two U.S. presidents, first a Republican, then a Democrat, had shown their confidence in her. George W. Bush had picked her for two ambassadorships, first Kyrgyzstan, then Armenia. Barack Obama, in his final year, had chosen her for the embassy in Kyiv, a hot spot of a different sort, its independence threatened by Russia’s designs on its territory.

            She had been calling out the stench of bad governance and corruption in Ukraine since her arrival in August of 2016. After Donald Trump’s election a few months later, she had kept up her campaign. She had ruffled feathers at the very top of Ukraine’s government and in the country’s darker corners, but that was a risk she had to take. Otherwise, nothing would change, she felt.

            In her speech at the Ukraine Crisis Media Center on March 5, Yovanovitch upped the ante once more. She called for the removal of Ukraine’s special corruption prosecutor, who had been caught on tape allegedly coaching a suspect on how to avoid prosecution. She said he couldn’t be trusted.

            Yuri Lutsenko, the country’s chief prosecutor, was monitoring the speech. He didn’t like what Yovanovitch was saying. He didn’t like what she was doing. He wanted her out. Hours later, he sent an irritated Whats­App text message to Lev Parnas, a close associate and cigar-smoking buddy of Rudy Giuliani, one of President Trump’s personal lawyers and closest confidants. The ambassador’s openly calling for the firing of one of my associates, Lutsenko wrote. This would not do.

            Lutsenko wrote his text in Russian, a language the two of them shared. But Parnas understood that the message was meant as much for Giuliani’s ears as his own. To reach Giuliani, who spoke only English, Lutsenko needed a translator and intermediary. He needed Parnas, a Ukrainian-American who had introduced the two of them.

            For months, Giuliani had been pursuing Trump’s goals in Ukraine. Along with Parnas and his associate Igor Fruman, Giuliani wanted prosecutors to investigate an unsupported narrative: that Ukrainian government officials had undertaken an organized effort to collude with the Democrats on Hillary Clinton’s behalf in the 2016 U.S. election. In this stew of a story they were serving up, Ukrainians were hiding the evidence, a computer server stashed somewhere in the country, and Trump was the victim of foreign efforts to interfere in the American election, not a beneficiary.

            None other than Vladimir Putin, the Russian president, was a promoter of this narrative. As long ago as February 2017, while speaking to reporters in Budapest, Putin had pushed the idea that Hillary Clinton and her campaign had benefited from the support of “Ukrainian authorities.” It was a classic Putin sleight-of-hand. Not our fault, Putin said. Blame Ukraine.

            Since then, the narrative had been making its way around the Internet, fueled by conspiracy theorists in the echo chambers populated by some of President Trump’s most fervent supporters. Giuliani liked the narrative for another reason: He needed ammunition to counter the impending report on Russian interference from Special Counsel Robert Mueller’s investigative team, which had tied Washington in knots for nearly two years. Giuliani did not believe that Trump had colluded with Russia. He and Trump had been railing against the Mueller probe for months. It was a joke, a “witch hunt,” “illegal,” “rigged,” “a disgrace.”

            More recently, Giuliani and his team had picked up a new scent. They had heard something enticing about former Vice President Joe Biden, one of Trump’s chief political rivals. Biden’s son Hunter had secured a high-paid seat on the board of Burisma, a Ukrainian gas company, while his father was serving as Obama’s second-in-command. A probe of the Bidens would be a win. It could damage the candidate seen in the Trump camp as the biggest threat in the 2020 race. The Trump campaign had seen how devastating the FBI investigation into Hillary Clinton’s private email server had been in 2016.

            Giuliani’s emerging role as a back channel on Ukraine reflected Trump’s deep distrust of the “deep state,” his derisive label for the people who form the backbone of the U.S. government. They are the military, diplomatic, intelligence, security, financial and public health professionals who provide expertise, analysis and advice to the occupant of the White House. The president sets policy, and this standing corps of experts helps execute it.

            Trump had turned that world on its head. He viewed the deep state as an enemy to be neutralized. These men and women weren’t his allies. They were weapons aimed at him, especially those career diplomats who had also worked in the Obama administration. Trump and his allies in conservative media called them “unelected bureaucrats,” a term they meant as a slur. Viewed through that lens, Marie Yovanovitch wasn’t a decorated diplomat who had represented her nation with dignity and bipartisan professionalism. She was a deep stater, she wasn’t on their team, and she was standing in Giuliani’s way. She had to go.

            On Ash Wednesday, as Nancy Pelosi was explaining to Heim why she was opposed to impeaching Trump, the texting between Lutsenko and Parnas escalated, with Lutsenko complaining again about Yovanovitch: “Now the Ambassador points to bad selection of judges.”

            

            Nancy Pelosi had heard the whispers in Capitol corridors—that she wasn’t up to the job, that maybe it was time to turn the speaker’s gavel over to someone younger. There was a moment when she might have listened. If Hillary Clinton had won the presidency in 2016, Pelosi had thought she might retire. The Affordable Care Act would be safe, the country would be in hands she trusted. But that changed when Trump won. Now, at the age of 78, a time when others were slowing down, she had no interest in taking a break. She wasn’t going anywhere. Not with Donald Trump in the White House.

            Power was something she understood, something she relished. She prided herself on knowing her caucus, knowing their motivations. What made them say yes to something, and what kept them from saying no. She chalked it up to longevity. If you lead for long enough, if you learn how to persuade enough people to follow you on the hard issues, you know how to speed them up or slow them down.

            She had been resisting calls to impeach Trump since taking over as speaker in January 2019. Emboldened by winning back the House in the midterms, those on the party’s newly energized left wing wanted, in the now famous words of freshman representative Rashida Tlaib of Michigan, to “impeach the motherfucker.” Pelosi knew how unhelpful that phrase would be in her party’s appeal to the political center, which had carried the Democrats to their triumphant midterm success.

            Her feelings about Trump could not be summed up in a few choice words. He infuriated her so much that she was grinding her teeth at night, prompting her dentist to make her a bite guard for sleeping. But in her calculation, she had not seen anything that merited impeachment. Pelosi feared that appearing obsessed with impeachment instead of “kitchen table” economic issues might undermine the wave of centrist freshmen who had just won in districts that had gone for Trump in 2016. She feared it could cost the party its House majority in 2020.

            Since Trump’s election, a small group of the House chamber’s most fiery progressives had submitted legislation five times, trying to start impeachment proceedings. It was a noisy minority view that presented a headache for Pelosi. Republicans were already saying impeachment talk amounted to a coup attempt by Democrats unable to accept the valid 2016 election result.

            Trump’s misdeeds, as cited by Democrats, made for a long and troubling list. But each time, Pelosi held the line. In her mind, none rose to the high standard of an impeachable offense, at least none that would resonate with the American public, let alone with a clear majority of the House, and certainly none that would sway a GOP-controlled Senate run by Majority Leader Mitch McConnell.

            Firing then–FBI director James Comey? Indefensible, she had said, but “until you have the facts that you can present . . . so the American people  are moving with you at the same time, I don’t think that our democracy is well served.”

            Claiming after white nationalist violence in Charlottesville, Virginia, that there had been an “egregious display of hatred, bigotry and violence on many sides”? Proof, she had said, that the president “doesn’t know right from wrong, true from false, American patriotism from white nationalism.” But by itself, not grounds for impeachment.

            Siding with Putin over U.S. intelligence officials’ determination that Russia had meddled in the 2016 election? “An embarrassment and a grave threat to our democracy,” she had said. His proposed ban on immigrants from Muslim countries? “Not only unconstitutional but immoral.” Shutting down the government over funding for his border wall? “Petulance and obstinance.” The $130,000 in hush money to adult film star Stormy Daniels and, before that, the “Access Hollywood” tape, where he was heard boasting he could grab women “by the pussy” because he was “a star”? “Disgusting behavior.”

            A sorry litany, but as far as Pelosi could see, not an iron-clad, public-unifying impeachable offense among them.

            Her caucus was unified on one score: Trump’s behavior appalled nearly all of them. But by Pelosi’s count, only a tiny fraction thought impeachment was the way to go. Her centrists counseled caution, moderates pleading for moderation. Pelosi understood. She was a famously impatient person who, even in four-inch heels, took the stairs rather than lose a minute waiting for the slow Capitol elevator. But on this, she saw patience as the only option. The Mueller investigation would be over soon. Maybe that would be a game changer. But for now, impeachment was a road that led nowhere, or at least nowhere good. The Senate belonged to the Republicans, and the Republicans belonged to Trump.

            Pelosi knew that any Republicans who voted for impeachment would have to explain rejecting Trump and the narrative about his presidency so successfully pushed by Fox News and other media on the right: The soaring stock market. The massive tax cuts. The revolutionary rollback of regulations. Filling the federal judiciary with enough conservative judges, including two Supreme Court justices, to shift the courts to the right for generations, and maybe someday reverse Roe v. Wade and make abortion a crime. The wall to keep out all those dangerous immigrants. Trump’s refreshingly blunt language that didn’t talk down to ordinary Americans.

            A lot of Republicans might be uncomfortable with some of Trump’s policies, his crudeness, his government-by-tweet, his war on the media. But to his base, Trump was a bracing antidote to decades of elitist Democrats and wishy-washy establishment Republicans. Trump was saving America. Trump knew this calculation and had taken advantage of it on the campaign trail. “If you really like Donald Trump, that’s great, but if you don’t, you have to vote for me anyway. You know why? Supreme Court judges, Supreme Court judges,” Trump had said at a 2016 rally in Cedar Rapids, Iowa. “Have no choice, sorry, sorry, sorry. You have no choice.”

            Pelosi was horrified by his policies, his cavalier disregard for facts, his apparent glee at sowing discord, his willingness to traffic in racism and misogyny while firing up his base. But as speaker, Pelosi knew that arguing policy differences in an impeachment vote was like trying to solve a math problem by quoting philosophers. She might be able to marshal her House majority, but flipping 20 Republican senators to reach the necessary 67 votes to remove him from office? Nearly impossible. It meant building a case as compelling and as damning as the one that forced Richard Nixon to resign his presidency in 1974, just two years after winning a second term by a landslide. Without a clear and powerful case—something the average American would easily grasp, something that would stir bipartisan outrage—initiating an impeachment inquiry could be perilous for the nation.

            Would a failed impeachment effort damage the balance of power between the executive and legislative branches? Would impeachment become so common that it would lose the gravity the framers of the Constitution intended? Was a bipartisan impeachment with “impartial jurors” in the Senate even possible, especially in the ferocious modern media landscape where facts and reality depended on which channel you watched? Could removing Trump from office rip open enough wounds to stoke violence?

            If the House were to impeach Trump, but then the Senate acquitted him, was that as good as handing him a talking point that he could repeat at every campaign rally? Would it invigorate him rather than stain him? After all, Trump was famous for counterpunching—hitting back ten times harder than he had been hit. Pelosi was all too aware that Trump was in his first term, unlike Nixon and Bill Clinton, who was impeached by the House in 1998 but acquitted in the Senate. Voters would have their say on Trump in November 2020. Was that a better remedy for his transgressions than impeachment?

            As the speaker, as the one making the decision, Pelosi had to keep calibrating the risks. There was a risk to doing something, and a risk to doing nothing. She didn’t want to tolerate presidential misconduct. But she also didn’t want the House, or her party, to be seen as taking away the voters’ power to decide Trump’s fate. An impeachment couldn’t be personal, or about policy differences. It had to be careful, fair and easy to understand to avoid a severe backlash in an already deeply divided nation.

            So in her office on this Ash Wednesday, she fixed Heim with a look of granite-hard conviction as she jabbed her finger: “He’s. Just. Not. Worth. It.”

            She had no idea that at the very moment she was speaking, the seeds of impeachment were being sown overseas, in a country most Americans had never visited, by a man once celebrated as “America’s Mayor,” on behalf of a president bent on imposing his mercurial will on everyone in his path.
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CHAPTER ONE Watch Your Back


March 19 to 29, 2019, Kyiv and Washington

On Tuesday, March 19, a Ukrainian official named Gizo Uglava contacted the U.S. Embassy in Kyiv with a disturbing story. Uglava needed to alert somebody. Nasty allegations were coming Ambassador Yovanovitch’s way.

Uglava was the deputy head of Ukraine’s National Anti-Corruption Bureau, known as NABU. He said he had spent the previous evening with a drunk and angry Yuri Lutsenko, the country’s prosecutor general. The anti-corruption bureau and Lutsenko weren’t the best of friends. Lutsenko regarded the bureau as a threat to his authority; the bureau saw Lutsenko as a product of Ukraine’s corruption and not part of the solution.

Lutsenko had railed on about the ambassador, making one claim after another. How she had “destroyed” him. How she and the entire embassy were working for the Democratic Party. How the embassy had interfered in a Ukrainian investigation of Burisma and Hunter Biden. How she was an “enemy” of President Trump and the Republicans. Lutsenko had said much of this to an American journalist who had interviewed him two weeks earlier. Soon, he told Uglava, Yovanovitch “would face serious problems” in the United States.

Uglava’s wasn’t the first such alarm.

Earlier in the year, Yovanovitch and George Kent, the State Department official in Washington overseeing Ukraine policy, had each found themselves in unsettling conversations with Arsen Avakov, Ukraine’s interior minister. Avakov warned that Lutsenko was collecting Ukrainian “mud” to throw at Yovanovitch, and had met with Giuliani and his associates. You need to watch your back, Avakov had told the ambassador.



Yovanovitch had expected blowback after her anti-corruption speech two weeks earlier. But suggesting she was corrupt and a political hack, working against her own president? She couldn’t believe anyone could think that about her. She had spent her career in service to her country, no matter who occupied the White House. She knew that Lutsenko had made an alliance with Rudy Giuliani, Lev Parnas and Igor Fruman, and they were waging a campaign against her. But why?

Yovanovitch thought the foreign service was her destiny. She was an immigrant and a child of immigrants, born in 1958 in Canada. Her father was a Russian from Siberia. He had been a German prisoner during World War II, ending up in postwar Paris, where he worked as a carpenter and handyman. Her mother had grown up stateless in Nazi Germany after her family had fled the Bolshevik revolution. Separately, her parents had migrated to Canada, where they met and married. They called their daughter Masha, a reminder of their Russian roots.

Masha Yovanovitch was proud of her parents’ story. They had been scarred in ways few people could understand. When she was three, they had moved to rural northwestern Connecticut, where her parents became high school teachers and had a son, Andre. The children grew up speaking Russian at home. Masha attended the Kent School, an elite private academy where her parents taught.

Her parents considered living in America a gift. She grew up believing it was her duty to repay it. She went to Princeton as a scholarship student. When she joined the State Department in 1986, she quickly felt at home. History and politics were her love, and her idols were George Kennan, the foreign service officer who designed the strategy that contained Soviet Communism through the Cold War, and George Marshall, whose peace plan for the reconstruction of postwar Europe had turned former enemies into American partners. She dedicated herself to following in those diplomatic footsteps.

In many ways, Yovanovitch was an attractive target for Ukrainian officials who had rarely been held accountable. She was a visible American presence in Kyiv, outspoken about her anti-corruption demands. Videos of her speeches and receptions were regularly posted on the embassy website. She was shaking things up, following official U.S. policy.

Now she was under attack from a man she considered corrupt, who was accusing her of corruption. There was no evidence, but the mere suggestion that she was misusing her office could be devastating to her and her career.

After Uglava left, the embassy immediately sent an email to Kent, reporting the conversation and asking for advice on handling this assault from Lutsenko, and the serious problems he said were coming.



If Yuri Lutsenko had learned anything from his years in Ukraine politics, it was that he needed to protect himself. He was a survivor, someone who had come back from the dead once. He didn’t want to go there again. He was close to Ukraine’s president, Petro Poroshenko, who was faltering in his bid for reelection. Lutsenko’s worry was that Poroshenko’s successor might want to investigate officials of the previous government for alleged corruption or other crimes.

That had happened before. It had happened to Lutsenko. In 2005, at age 40, he had taken the reins of Ukraine’s Ministry of Internal Affairs, a powerful post with police oversight. After serving five years, he was accused of abusing his office soon after a new administration took power. Lutsenko denied the allegations, saying they were politically motivated, a result of his opposition to the incoming government. No use. He spent more than a year in jail awaiting trial, then another year after his conviction. In 2013, he was pardoned by the same administration that had prosecuted him.

By early 2016, Lutsenko had climbed his way back into the government, rising to the equivalent of attorney general despite possessing no law degree. By early 2019, with the election approaching and Poroshenko looking vulnerable, Lutsenko could see his future looking cloudy. Currying favor with Trump and the Americans, Ukraine’s ally, might help his standing with a new government. When the opportunity came up for a meeting with Giuliani, the president’s personal lawyer, Lutsenko decided, sure, why not?

He and Giuliani had one thing in common: They shared a dislike of Yovanovitch. Lutsenko knew the ambassador viewed him as part of Ukraine’s corruption problem. Giuliani thought the ambassador was anti-Trump. Bashing Yovanovitch was in their mutual interest.



The barrage began early the next morning, March 20. Shortly after 9 a.m., a taped interview with Lutsenko aired on Hill.TV, a one-year-old digital channel of The Hill, a news site focused on coverage of Congress and the federal government. The interviewer was John Solomon, Hill.TV’s top executive and a veteran reporter.

Lutsenko appeared on camera from Kyiv, with an interpreter providing a voice-over. He let loose a version of the allegations against Yovanovitch reported to the embassy the day before, and added a new, incendiary one: In August 2016, he said, Yovanovitch had given him a “do-not-prosecute” list of prominent Ukrainians. If true, that would amount to improper interference in Ukraine’s internal affairs.

The ripples from Lutsenko’s video soon became a wave. By 11 a.m., The Hill’s website had posted two articles, each linked to a three-minute clip from the Lutsenko interview, each featuring a different explosive allegation. A couple of hours later came a tweet from Fox’s Sean Hannity, among the biggest names in the conservative media world. At 3 p.m., Hannity led his daily Web-based radio show with the news of Solomon’s interview, adding that “I just happen to have a little birdie telling me in my ear that, well, Joe Biden may have an issue here that is bigger than anything ever alleged about Donald Trump.”

Hill.TV counted its daily viewers in the tens of thousands. Hannity’s radio show claimed 14 million listeners a week.



By mid-afternoon, Lev Parnas had spent a busy couple of hours on his phone, texting links of the Lutsenko interview clips to Republican friends, doing his part to rev up the conservative media echo chamber.

The previous night, he had messaged Thomas Hicks Jr., a Trump family friend and co-chair of the Republican National Committee. “Tomorrow’s the big day,” Parnas had written. Next on his list was Joseph Ahearn at the pro-Trump super PAC called America First Action. “Wait Tomorrow good stuff,” he told Ahearn.

Parnas was pleased. The campaign to discredit Yovanovitch, months in the making, was working out. In January, after making several trips to Ukraine to cultivate connections for various business deals, Parnas and Fruman had arranged for Lutsenko to meet Giuliani in New York. Lutsenko wanted their help in pursuing his agenda. They wanted his help in pursuing theirs. The group latched on to Solomon as someone who might be interested in what they had to say.

Solomon had been a logical choice as a possible megaphone for Lutsenko’s allegations. His work was admired in pro-Trump circles. He was a well-known reporter whose career had taken him from mainstream outlets, including a stint at The Washington Post, into the conservative media orbit, first as executive editor of the Washington Times. He joined The Hill in 2017, partly to create and develop its video operation, partly to do investigative stories. After colleagues complained of bias in his articles, The Hill decided to put “opinion contributor” on his work. As a TV commentator, he had become a favorite of Sean Hannity, appearing dozens of times in 2017 and 2018 to discuss his Hill articles.

In the days leading up to the story’s March 20 debut, Parnas had been in frequent touch with Solomon by phone and email, playing the role of intermediary. “Just got word from Lev that the prosecutor general has agreed to do an interview tomorrow,” Solomon wrote in one email, with a copy to Parnas. When the interview date was set, Solomon invited Parnas to be there, in case his translation services were needed. That wasn’t necessary, but Parnas had watched the taping anyway from the control room at The Hill’s offices on K Street in Washington.

Now Parnas was trying his best to accelerate the allegations, sending WhatsApp messages to contacts. In one, he suggested to Ahearn, “Have jr. retweet it,” referring to Ahearn’s friend Donald Trump Jr. On another, he told Hicks at the Republican National Committee, “You should retweet it.”

Half an hour later, Hicks replied, “I should probably keep my hands clean on that!”



At 7:30 p.m., The Hill published a third and more extensive story under Solomon’s byline, a full roundup of the Lutsenko accusations. The headline: “As Russia collusion fades, Ukrainian plot to help Clinton emerges.” The earlier stories were already ricocheting online. The State Department issued a statement disputing Lutsenko and calling the “do-not-prosecute” list “an outright fabrication.”

Solomon quoted the State Department’s protest in his story, and then added: “My reporting, however, indicates that Lutsenko isn’t the only one complaining about Yovanovitch.” He had obtained a letter, nearly a year old, from Pete Sessions, a Republican congressman from Texas, to Secretary of State Mike Pompeo. The letter was vague. It said only that Sessions had learned from “individuals” that Yovanovitch “has spoken privately and repeatedly about her disdain for the current Administration.” That had been enough for Sessions. He asked that the ambassador be fired.

Less than 15 minutes after the third Solomon story was posted online, Parnas copied the link into WhatsApp messages for Hicks and Ahearn. Ninety minutes later, he sent them another round.

“Watch Hannity,” he told them.



At 9 p.m., Hannity seized on Solomon’s reports for his prime-time TV show, a Fox powerhouse that averaged more than 3 million viewers a night. President Trump was a fan of the show as well as an occasional guest, and off the air, he sometimes called on Hannity for informal advice.

Hannity got right to it. “Breaking tonight, according to The Hill’s John Solomon,” he said, there is “real evidence” of “collusion” to undermine Trump’s presidential campaign in 2016. At the side of the screen, the chyron quoted the headline from Solomon’s story: “As Russia Collusion Fades, Ukrainian Plot to Help Clinton Emerges.”

“Where’s the Mueller investigation into this damning new story which we now get to tonight from John Solomon?” Hannity said as he opened the show.

Hannity had three guests to talk about this “damning new story” and Lutsenko’s allegations: John Solomon, Victoria Toensing and Joe diGenova. Toensing and diGenova were a Washington power couple who ran their own law firm and frequently appeared on Fox as commentators. No one mentioned that the two legal experts were Solomon’s lawyers and had a hand in the arrangements that led to the story. DiGenova did say that “we also now know that the current United States ambassador Marie Yovanovitch has bad-mouthed the president of the United States to Ukrainian officials and has told them not to listen or worry about Trump policy because he’s going to be impeached.”

Extending his point, diGenova said: “This woman needs to be called home to the United States—”

Hannity interjected, “Oh, immediately.”

DiGenova kept talking “—for consultation to answer a slew of questions about her conduct and her assault on the president of the United States.”

Just after the show, at 10:40 p.m., Trump tweeted The Hill headline about a “Ukrainian plot to help Clinton.” The retweets then began, amplifying what the president had tweeted, into the wider networks of the conservative media universe.

Fox prime-time host Laura Ingraham joined in, commenting to her three million Twitter followers: “Sounds like our Ambassador to Ukraine has some splaining to do. #UkrainianMeddling.”

The next day, Trump told national security adviser John Bolton that Yovanovitch had been “bad mouthing us like crazy,” and “she is saying bad shit about me and about you.” Trump told Bolton he wanted her fired “today.” Later that afternoon, Bolton conveyed Trump’s order to Deputy Secretary of State John Sullivan.



Trump had been hearing grumbles about Yovanovitch for nearly a year. At an April 30, 2018, dinner with political donors at his Trump International Hotel near the White House, Trump was seated with Parnas and Fruman, who were discussing their plans in Ukraine. They were hoping to snag a piece of the country’s lucrative gas industry.

“The biggest problem there, I think where we need to start, is we gotta get rid of the ambassador. She’s still left over from the Clinton administration,” Parnas told the president, without mentioning Yovanovitch’s name. “She’s basically walking around telling everybody, ‘Wait, he’s gonna get impeached, just wait.’ ”

Fruman was recording the conversation, capturing Trump’s reply. The president turned to Johnny DeStefano, a White House aide, and ordered him to “Get rid of her! Get her out tomorrow. I don’t care. Get her out tomorrow. Take her out. OK? Do it.”

Ten days later, Parnas pressed the case against Yovanovitch with Pete Sessions, the Texas congressman. Sessions took immediate action, writing to Pompeo, asking him to fire Yovanovitch for disparaging the administration, citing “concrete evidence from close companions.”

Over the next few months, Parnas and Fruman engineered a series of political donations, totaling half a million dollars by year’s end. The first $325,000 went to America First Action, the pro-Trump super PAC. It was made in the name of a newly formed company with no assets, Global Energy Producers. Another $5,400 went to Pete Session’s reelection campaign.

But nothing happened after Trump’s order. The year ended with Yovanovitch still in place, still making waves about Ukrainian corruption. If they wanted her out, they had to do something different.



Yovanovitch and the embassy staff watched the unfolding events with astonishment. The Solomon stories had set off a chain reaction so rapid that it seemed inconceivable to Yovanovitch they had not been orchestrated. It was relentless, and it showed no sign of letting up.

On her popular Fox show Friday night, Laura Ingraham called Yovanovitch an “Obama holdover” who had “reportedly demonstrated clear anti-Trump bias.” She interviewed diGenova, still not disclosing his complicated relationship to the stories. DiGenova said he had a bit of news. “Laura, you mentioned that Ambassador Marie Yovanovitch, contrary to what a lot of people thought, was still in her job,” diGenova told Ingraham. “I learned this evening that the president has ordered her dismissal from her post as the United States ambassador to Ukraine as a result of her activities there.”

Giuliani had weighed in the same day, tweeting a reference to Dan Bongino, a radio host and former Secret Service agent with 1.5 million Twitter followers. Giuliani said to “pay attention” to Bongino for “an analysis of some real collusion between Hillary, Kerry and Biden people colluding with Ukrainian operatives to make money and affect 2016 election.”

On Saturday, March 23, Bongino told his Twitter fans that he’d be discussing Solomon’s work on his radio show on Monday. He called the story “the most important piece you can read today.” Links to the Solomon stories proliferated online. They spilled onto a thread on 4chan, the anonymous forum where trolls frequently succeed in pushing dark conspiracies onto Twitter, Facebook and other mainstream platforms. The links were shared by believers in the fringe QAnon conspiracy theory, which holds that Trump is engaged in an apocalyptic showdown with deep state saboteurs.

Some of Yovanovitch’s supporters used social media to defend her. Melinda Haring, editor of UkraineAlert, a blog published by the Atlantic Council, tweeted: “The fact that @thehill printed this nonsense… tells you just how little editors and journalists in the US know about Ukraine.” Haring’s following was modest, though, compared to the more interconnected conservative media machine.

The intense reaction highlighted some of the differences between the liberal and conservative media. On the left side, talk show hosts like MSNBC’s Rachel Maddow and Lawrence O’Donnell also boasted large and devoted audiences. “Saturday Night Live” and late-night comedians criticized Trump and the right with abandon and glee. Online, the progressive social media universe had developed into a noisy, unruly place where Trump was despised. But the diversity itself often made it hard for a specific message to gain traction. The conservative media tended to be more interconnected, and its messaging more disciplined and unified. If Hannity or Ingraham or Rush Limbaugh or “Fox & Friends” focused on an issue, it often showed up as a talking point across the spectrum.

That was happening now with Yovanovitch and Ukraine. On Sunday, The Daily Wire, an influential website in conservative circles, ran a story under the headline: “Calls Grow To Remove Obama’s U.S. Ambassador To Ukraine.” It was a greatest hits album replaying the week’s Solomon news.

The only original reporting it contained was this: “A source close to the White House who is familiar with the matter told The Daily Wire: ‘President Trump has been trying to remove this Obama holdover from her role in Ukraine for over a year now.… So the question is, who in his Administration has flaunted his requests and why are they protecting an anti-Trump, Obama flunkey?’ ”

The president’s eldest son, Donald Trump Jr., shared the Daily Wire story about Yovanovitch with his Twitter followers. He said the United States needs “less of these jokers as ambassadors.”



In Kyiv, Marie Yovanovitch saw Donald Trump Jr.’s tweet. It hit her like a punch in the face. It was suddenly clear to her that she had not paid enough attention. For too long, she had thought she just needed to weather the attacks, that they came with the territory. Inevitably, if you’re trying to make change, you make enemies. She had tried to tune out the noise and stay focused on U.S. policy priorities: fighting corruption, supporting the rule of law and managing the American aid that supported Ukraine’s ongoing war against Russia. She had never bad-mouthed Trump and was grateful to him for approving what she thought was badly needed equipment for the Ukrainian military, including Javelin anti-tank weapons that Obama had denied.

She had been naive. If the president’s son was going to call her a joker, how could she continue to be a credible ambassador? She had seen the tweet right away, but it was now Sunday evening in Kyiv. No matter. She had to act. She emailed David Hale, the undersecretary of state for political affairs and her senior boss. Just three weeks earlier, Hale had asked her to extend her tour for another year. Now she told him the department needed to “come out strong” in support of her against these crazy smears. She said Pompeo himself needed to issue a statement saying he had full confidence in her, that the allegations were baseless, that she represented and spoke for the department, the president and the United States.

In Washington, Hale had just returned from an overseas trip when he saw her email. He called her immediately. She repeated, with some urgency, her request for a statement from Pompeo. Hale said he would speak to the secretary. He told her to send him a classified email, explaining in writing what was happening.

In Washington, as Yovanovitch was writing her email, U.S. attorney general William Barr was releasing a “summary” of the still-unpublished Mueller report. He said it had concluded there was no collusion between the Trump campaign and Russia, and that Mueller had found no conclusive evidence of a Trump effort to obstruct justice in the investigation.



At 7:15 Monday morning, March 25, Pompeo held his regular senior staff meeting with Hale, John Sullivan and Ulrich Brechbuhl, the secretary’s counselor and de facto chief of staff. Hale reported that Yovanovitch wanted a Pompeo statement supporting her. The department’s European Bureau had strongly requested that Pompeo back her up. Hale told Pompeo that he agreed.

Was there any evidence, Pompeo asked, to support the allegations against her? None, Hale said. Many of the things Lutsenko alleged—including the shutdown of the Burisma investigation—had happened before she arrived as ambassador. There was no reason to doubt that the ambassador, one of the department’s finest and most experienced diplomats, was faithfully carrying out Trump administration policy, Hale said.

Pompeo told Brechbuhl to get in touch with those circulating the allegations on social media and within the White House and report back to him. A statement was on hold until Pompeo heard the results. After the meeting, Hale emailed Yovanovitch to update her. His assistant messaged “no statement” to the department’s press office, which was awaiting a sign-off on a draft of support.

Later in the day, Trump called Bolton into his private dining room, where he was meeting with Giuliani and another of his personal lawyers, Jay Sekulow. It was the first time that Bolton realized that Giuliani was the source of Trump’s ill feelings toward Yovanovitch. Trump again told Bolton he wanted her fired. Bolton relayed the message to Pompeo, who said there were no facts supporting Giuliani’s claims. Pompeo said he would tell that to Trump and Giuliani.

Amid the controversy, Yovanovitch called Gordon Sondland, the U.S. ambassador to the European Union. He was a major Republican donor, a Pacific Northwest businessman, a political appointee. His government experience paled next to hers. But he knew Trump. He had recently visited Ukraine and was familiar with the issues there. She had spoken to him in the past and found him helpful.

Sondland told her she needed to “go big or go home.” He said she should put out a statement, by video or tweet, declaring her full support for Trump and his policies, and saying the allegations against her were lies.

She thanked him, but she didn’t take his advice. She didn’t see how a foreign service officer, a diplomat, could create a public fight with people in the United States who were criticizing her—especially when those people included the president’s son and the president’s personal lawyer. Defend herself rather than be defended by the secretary of state? Bad idea. So she stayed silent.

Her supporters in Washington chose to speak out. On Tuesday afternoon, March 26, The Washington Post published an op-ed by Haring of the UkraineAlert newsletter. Haring expressed astonishment at the speed and progress of the attack on Yovanovitch. “Lutsenko used Solomon to get to Hannity to get to Trump, whose Twitter feed set thousands chattering about nonexistent collusion,” she wrote. “If a bunch of obscure foreigners few Americans have ever heard of can play Trump so easily, and so obviously, what’s to stop others from doing the same?”

Elsewhere in Washington, John Solomon asked the State Department for a comment on another article he was preparing. A department official told him: “Ambassador Yovanovitch represents the President of the United States in Ukraine, and America stands behind her and her statements.”

But Pompeo held off on issuing the formal statement of confidence, under his name, that Yovanovitch had sought.



Rudy Giuliani wanted to tell Mike Pompeo directly what he thought of his ambassador to Ukraine, Marie Yovanovitch. He had a packet of documents for him. On March 27, seven days after Solomon’s first stories appeared, Giuliani’s assistant, Jo Ann Zafonte, sent an email to Madeleine Westerhout, a gatekeeper and personal aide to President Trump. The subject line: “Secretary Pompeo.”

“Hate to bother you,” Zafonte wrote, “but might you be able to send me a good number for above, I’ve been trying and getting nowhere through regular channels.”

Twenty-four minutes after receiving the note, Westerhout forwarded it to a Pompeo aide. “This is Rudy Giuliani’s assistant,” she wrote. “What number can I give her for S?” she asked, referring to the secretary of state.

That evening, Pompeo aide Lisa Kenna emailed a State Department employee who was coordinating with Giuliani’s office. “Pls have Mr. G bring the documents.” The next day, the packet arrived at the State Department, addressed to “Secretary Pompeo” in scrolling calligraphy. The return address said simply “The White House.” Inside was a folder embossed with the Trump Hotels logo. Giuliani’s presentation was hardly subtle: He was working for the president.

The folder contained an assortment of documents Giuliani had compiled during months of work on Trump’s behalf, with help from Parnas and Fruman. Some were about Yovanovitch, some weren’t. There were copies of Solomon’s stories. A timeline. Notes from Giuliani’s talks with Lutsenko and another former Ukrainian prosecutor, Viktor Shokin, who blamed former vice president Joe Biden for his ouster in disgrace in 2016.

Together, the documents reflected Giuliani’s view that he was doing exactly what a good lawyer should do: Find information favorable to his client, pursue it, see where it leads. Others might say he was out of line, but that wasn’t his concern. If pushing the Ukrainians for an investigation, or sending Pompeo a file, was in his client’s interest, then so be it.

Giuliani’s sleuthing had started with the Mueller investigation. Trump had enlisted Giuliani’s help in fending it off. As a former federal prosecutor, Giuliani was well versed in the rhythms of such an investigation. He believed that Mueller’s investigation was a ridiculous waste of time and money. He had said, over and over, that Trump had done nothing wrong. But as a defense lawyer, he had to be prepared for the possibility that Mueller’s final report would be damaging to his client in some way.

Giuliani had a strategy. If Mueller were to conclude that Trump had conspired with Russia, Giuliani planned to declare that Mueller had nabbed the wrong guy. After a former colleague had passed along some information in November 2018 about Ukrainian election collusion and an alleged Biden connection, Giuliani had thought to himself: Hallelujah. I now have what a defense lawyer always wants: I can go prove someone else committed his crime. The someone else? The Democrats and Ukraine. With Lutsenko’s help, he could blame Ukraine for colluding with Hillary Clinton’s campaign.

It wasn’t Russia that had interfered, he was telling Trump and Pompeo and anyone who would listen. It was Ukraine.

Yovanovitch was a small piece of a much larger story.






CHAPTER TWO “Ready to Rumble”


April 18 to 21, Washington and Kyiv

On the morning of Thursday, April 18, Trump tweeted a photo of himself, back to the camera, walking toward a mist evocative of “Game of Thrones,” the wildly popular HBO series. It crowed “NO COLLUSION. NO OBSTRUCTION” and proclaimed: “FOR THE HATERS AND THE RADICAL LEFT DEMOCRATS – GAME OVER,” in the show’s distinctive, gothic-style typeface.

It was Trump’s teaser for the Justice Department’s 11 a.m. release of the Mueller report, as if he were promoting the finale of the ratings-busting juggernaut and its brutal, unforgiving political battles. For 22 months, investigators led by special counsel Robert S. Mueller III, the former U.S. Marine and ex–FBI director, had been methodically working their way through documents and witnesses. It was a gigantic Rubik’s Cube, trying to determine how Russia had meddled in the 2016 U.S. presidential election, and whether Russia had coordinated those efforts with anyone in the Trump campaign.

When Trump heard in May 2017 that a special counsel would be appointed, he had slumped in his chair and said, “This is the end of my presidency. I’m fucked.” Since then, “No collusion, no obstruction” had become a Trump mantra, created early and repeated often, a defiant denial and a rallying cry rolled into one sound bite.

Mueller’s team had pursued its mission in relative secrecy, revealing its progress only through the occasional set of indictments. The mystery and guardedness had sharpened the expectations on both sides of the political divide. For Democrats, the probe was the warm, happy place that would send the contemptible Trump crashing from office in disgrace. For Republicans, it was the angry, indignant place where they could channel their fury at those loser lefties who would seize on any crazy excuse to bring down Trump, reversing the legitimate results of the 2016 election and thumbing their noses at the Republicans’ half of the electorate, the 63 million voters who chose Trump.

As required, Mueller had filed his final report with the Justice Department. It was Justice’s responsibility to send his findings to the House and Senate Judiciary committees. Barr said he would redact the classified bits and send the full report as soon as he could. But like a movie reviewer eager to analyze the climactic scene, Barr had made his claim that the report cleared Trump of wrongdoing.

Congressional Democrats called Barr’s spoiler an outrageous mischaracterization of the report. They demanded to read Mueller’s findings for themselves. On April 12, Congress adjourned for its two-week spring recess, and Barr still had not released the report.

Today was the day of the big reveal. Trump’s Twitter account sent out a couple of early-morning flares. In keeping with the Hollywood vibe of the morning, one tweet included a 54-second video, featuring multiple clips with him saying “No collusion” over the past two years, as soaring martial music played in the background. Then the final frames, with him declaring: “This was an illegal takedown that failed. And hopefully somebody’s gonna look at the other side.”



Trump loved Twitter’s immediacy. He could think of something, type it into his phone and soon people were talking about it. He bragged that his tens of millions of followers meant he had a bigger platform than most print and TV outlets. He wasn’t the first president to take advantage of social media—the Obama White House had done so effectively and increasingly during his two terms—but he was first to embrace Twitter as his primary means of communication. He called it “modern day presidential.”

He would post official White House statements, especially after his press secretary stopped holding daily briefings. But mostly, Twitter was another way for the president to punch back. He vented, unloaded, settled scores and YELLED AT PEOPLE IN ALL CAPS. He butchered spelling and grammar. But whatever he did, he tweeted to be retweeted, to spread his message. He would occasionally say “Watch this” to people around him, then “bing, bing, bing” as his tweet instantly went viral. He liked to calculate the time it took for an especially hot tweet to make it onto TV.

White House press aides would help prepare video clips and photos for Trump to share, like the “Game of Thrones” montage. Twitter also was a way to sidestep the mainstream media—“the enemy of the people,” he often called them.

Not everyone saw his tweets. Only about one-fifth of the country were regular Twitter users, and they were more likely to be Democrats than Republicans, according to surveys. But Trump knew that the major outlets, despite objections from some critics, would report on many of his tweets. He would often make news in them, and The Washington Post and others had a long history of monitoring everything a president said. Many began assigning reporters to the Trump beat as early as 5 a.m., when he often picked up his phone and started typing into his @realDonaldTrump Twitter account. His early-morning tweets were often his most unvarnished of the day.

Saying something outrageous, saying it first, saying it loud—that drew attention and retweets. Twitter ran on adrenaline. Trump understood that. Some of his fans, including his wife Melania, said they wished he would tone it down. But when his critics took him to task for tweets they regarded as unpresidential or worse—when he said, for example, a TV host was “dumb as a rock”—Trump didn’t back down. Twitter helped me win the election, he would say. Twitter lets me speak directly to my supporters.

He was speaking to his supporters now, with the Mueller report a few hours from public release. He told them: “The Greatest Political Hoax of all time! Crimes were committed by Crooked, Dirty Cops and DNC/The Democrats.”

In a sign of Trump’s relationship with his fervent following, he didn’t need to spell out that “Crooked” was his nickname for Hillary Clinton.



Rudy Giuliani had been preparing for the Mueller moment for months. The president’s personal lawyer had a “counter report” cued up for distribution to the press, and a full slate of media appearances planned—Fox first, CNN and Fox again in prime time. At 5:16 a.m., he texted Jacqueline Alemany, who was writing a scene-setter for Power Up, The Washington Post’s early-morning political newsletter.

The night before, Alemany had messaged him to “see how things are going before the big day tomorrow.”

“Ready to rumble,” he told her.



The Democrats were ready, too, but with Congress still in recess, most of them weren’t in Washington. Nancy Pelosi was leading a congressional delegation to Germany, Britain and Ireland. The House Judiciary Committee chairman, Democrat Jerrold Nadler, was at home in New York City. The Senate chairman, Republican Lindsey Graham, was traveling in Africa. The Capitol was a near ghost town, its corridors largely empty. There would still be a burst of Democratic comment, but Barr’s timing ensured that the reaction would be a scattershot roar.

Jerry Nadler was furious at Barr’s highly choreographed rollout. The attorney general had scheduled a 9:30 a.m. press conference, a second shot at telling the public what to think about the yet-to-be-seen findings. After news broke of Barr’s plan the previous afternoon, Nadler had tweeted: “I’m deeply troubled by reports that the WH is being briefed on the Mueller report AHEAD of its release.… This is wrong. #ReleaseTheReport.”

Undeterred, Barr stepped to a podium at the Justice Department almost right on schedule. Flanked by his two deputies, he echoed Trump’s morning mantra—“No collusion”—and dismissed a reporter’s question about “spinning” the report in advance, curtly saying “No, No.” He quoted the report’s conclusion that “the Russian government” had illegally interfered in the 2016 election and he acknowledged that Mueller’s team had listed “ten episodes” involving Trump actions that may have impeded the investigation. But, he said, the evidence was “not sufficient” to support an obstruction-of-justice charge.

As Barr was leaving the briefing room, Nadler was already tweeting. He posted a letter to Mueller, asking him to testify before the committee. “Congress and the American people must hear from Special Counsel Robert Mueller,” Nadler wrote at 10:03 a.m.



An hour after Barr’s press conference, the report went public on digitized disks delivered to the Judiciary committees. The media began sifting through the 448 pages, the results of an investigation based on 2,800 subpoenas, 500 search warrants and 500 witness interviews, producing 34 indictments, including people close to Trump.

Two conclusions dominated the early press accounts.

One: The Russian government wanted Trump to win and worked to make that happen. But, to the delight of Republicans: “The investigation did not establish that members of the Trump Campaign conspired or coordinated with the Russian government.”

Two: Trump had potentially obstructed Mueller’s probe at least ten times, as Barr had said in his preview. Influenced by Justice Department guidance that a sitting president can’t be prosecuted, Mueller’s team had left any further action to Congress. And to the delight of Democrats: “If we had confidence after a thorough investigation of the facts that the President clearly did not commit obstruction of justice, we would so state. Based on the facts and the applicable legal standards, we are unable to reach that judgment.” And then for emphasis: “Accordingly, while this report does not conclude that the President committed a crime, it also does not exonerate him.”

It didn’t take long for Democrats and many in the media to convert those convoluted sentences into plainer English: The Mueller report did not clear the president of wrongdoing, as Barr had been insisting. The report was saying it was Congress’s responsibility to hold the president accountable, governed by the impeachment clause of the Constitution.

Within an hour, the president’s legal team declared “total victory” in a statement that questioned the investigation’s legitimacy. “This vindication of the President is an important step forward for the country and a strong reminder that this type of abuse must never be permitted to occur again,” said the statement from Giuliani and the three outside lawyers, Jay Sekulow, Jane Serene Raskin and Martin Raskin, hired to represent Trump during the probe.

At the White House, during an event in the East Room honoring wounded veterans, Trump told the gathering that he was “having a good day” and echoed his legal team’s statement. “This should never happen to another president again, this hoax,” he said.

By 11:30 a.m., Rudy Giuliani was on Fox, saying from a remote studio in Washington that “we’re very, very happy.” Giuliani was leaping from one topic to another, enjoying his chance to take the offensive. Anchor Bill Hemmer was finding it hard to corral the former New York mayor. At one point, Giuliani detoured into the Ukraine allegations.

“You want Russian collusion? Go look at the article in the Ukrainian papers a week and a half ago about how they’ve opened an investigation of their own officials for colluding with—”

Hemmer tried to steer the conversation back to the Mueller report, but Giuliani kept going, leaning forward, eyebrows raised, eyes flaring.

“—colluding with Hillary Clinton.”

At that moment, Hemmer wasn’t interested in Ukraine or Hillary Clinton, or why Giuliani had brought them up. Instead he asked, “Up until 60 minutes ago, how much of this report had you seen?”

Giuliani was candid. He and the legal team had seen the entire report, in advance, in a secure room at the Justice Department, starting Tuesday night. “I read every page of it,” he said, pausing to let that idea sink in. “The four of us, myself, Jay, Jane, Marty… we were originally going to divide it up, but we decided we had to read it all and share our thoughts. It took two days.”

The interview lasted 24 minutes, with no other guest to share the spotlight.



Across the ocean, Nancy Pelosi was watching. Herding 234 House Democrats from the speaker’s office was hard enough. Managing them from Northern Ireland, where she had spent the day on the border with the Republic of Ireland before going to Belfast, was more challenging. But Pelosi was traveling with staff who were constantly briefing her; she was also in touch with D.C. by phone and text.

She and Senator Chuck Schumer, the New Yorker who led the Senate Democrats, had put together a joint statement, which went out before Barr’s morning press conference. They criticized the attorney general for his “regrettably partisan handling” of Mueller’s report and, like Nadler, called for the special counsel to testify. That was the only way to “restore public trust” in the report.

Before the Mueller report, Pelosi had held the line against impeachment. Now the report was out with a muddled message. That made matters harder. There was a pent-up frustration among some in the caucus. Pelosi needed time to assess where they stood, to assess the new risks.

Nadler was a wild card. He didn’t share Pelosi’s wariness about an impeachment inquiry. But as one of her committee chairmen, he had tried to stay close to her line. Now he looked at Mueller’s language and saw a door swinging open. At a mid-afternoon news conference in New York, he said the special counsel’s report offered “disturbing evidence that President Trump had engaged in obstruction of justice and other misconduct.”

The reporters heard the door opening, too. “Congressman, when you say that it is Congress’s responsibility to hold the president accountable,” the first questioner asked, “does that mean impeachment?”

Nadler said: “That is one possibility.” Let’s see where the evidence leads, he said.

An hour later, Pelosi’s more cautious, calming view could be heard in the words of her number two, House majority leader Steny Hoyer of Maryland. They had been working hand in glove to keep the pro-impeachment faction in check. Hoyer stuck to that position now. “Based on what we have seen to date, going forward on impeachment is not worthwhile at this point,” Hoyer told CNN’s Dana Bash. “Very frankly, there is an election in 18 months and the American people will make a judgment.”

Late in the afternoon, one of the party’s most progressive and best-known freshman members, Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez of New York, took to Twitter to call for the very conversation that Hoyer was trying to mute. “Many know that I take no pleasure in discussions of impeachment,” Ocasio-Cortez tweeted to her 4 million followers, nearly ten times as many as Pelosi. “But the report puts this squarely on our doorstep.”

Ocasio-Cortez was another wild card. She had gained a formidable reputation after just a few months in office. She was a phenomenon, no question. After winning her seat in the 2018 midterms, Ocasio-Cortez had dubbed herself and three other newly elected women of color as “the Squad,” giving themselves status as a progressive voice. The nickname had caught on.

Now, Ocasio-Cortez said she would support her fellow Squad member, Rashida Tlaib of Michigan, who had filed an impeachment resolution. The “I” word was back. The word that Nancy Pelosi was trying so hard to avoid. The long Mueller probe was over, but the reverberations were just beginning.



For Trump, it was a day to savor. Shortly after 4 p.m., he and First Lady Melania Trump emerged from the White House holding hands. The president waved but did not stop to answer the reporters’ shouted questions, not his usual habit.

The first couple boarded Marine One for the short hop to Joint Base Andrews in suburban Maryland, and then on to his Mar-a-Lago compound in Palm Beach, where it was 71 degrees, with clear blue skies and sunshine, a fine start to the Easter weekend.

That evening, as the Trump family relaxed in Florida, Nancy Pelosi emailed a “Dear Colleague” letter to House Democrats, citing “several alarming findings” in the Mueller report. She announced a caucus-wide conference call for Monday night, a virtual town hall from wherever they might be, “to discuss this grave matter.”

The next morning in Belfast, five hours ahead of East Coast time and while most of Washington was still asleep, Pelosi was holding an early press conference, her first since the Mueller report had gone public. Asked about impeachment, she went into her best duck-and-dodge mode. “I would just say this: On any trip… I go on with my colleagues, we do not leave the country to criticize the president of the United States.”



Two days later, with the Mueller report still convulsing political Washington, Ukrainians were electing a new president. Actor and comedian Volodymyr Zelensky won a landslide victory as millions of voters weary of war and economic hardship rebuked the ruling elites.

It was a thunderous triumph for Zelensky. His only credential for office was playing a fictional Ukrainian president on a popular TV sitcom called “Servant of the People.” In a runoff against President Petro Poroshenko, who had been campaigning for a second five-year term, Zelensky had won nearly 75 percent of the vote.

When the boyish-looking Zelensky realized his election was assured, he jumped up and down like an excited kid, kissed his wife and hugged supporters. He walked onstage to the theme song from his TV show and said: “I can say as a Ukrainian citizen to all the countries of the former Soviet Union: Look at us. Everything is possible.”

He had been heavily favored to win, surging to the top of a crowded field of candidates in the first round. His election was the latest in a global trend of political outsiders harnessing TV and social media to reach voters and bypass an unpopular establishment. He wasn’t Trump, who also had a TV star turn as the tough-talking boss on the reality show “The Apprentice.” But his victory had echoes of Trump’s.

His election had come at a critical moment for his country and its 40 million people. Ukraine was pivotal to Putin’s effort to maintain a sphere of influence in Eastern Europe. With guns and bombs in 2014, Putin’s Russia had “annexed” Ukraine’s Crimean Peninsula and had backed separatists in eastern Ukraine. Putin feared that a successful democracy in Ukraine, which shares deep historical, linguistic and cultural ties with Russia, could energize opposition within Russia and challenge his autocratic rule.

Zelensky’s most powerful advantage may have been simply that he was not Poroshenko. Many voters blamed the incumbent for failing to end the war in eastern Ukraine, with its death toll of 13,000, and for allowing corruption to fester at the government’s highest levels.

On his sitcom, Zelensky played a morally upright schoolteacher whose rant about corruption is caught on camera and goes viral. In his campaign, he took on Ukraine’s entrenched elites and said he would not be bought. “I’m not a politician,” Zelensky said during one campaign debate, channeling his character on the show. “I’m just a simple person who came to break the system.”



Just before 4:30 p.m. on the U.S. East Coast, half an hour before midnight in Kyiv, Trump called Zelensky to congratulate him on his “incredible election.” The U.S. president made the call from Air Force One, flying back to Washington after three days at Mar-a-Lago.

Zelensky thanked him, saying: “We had you as a great example.”

“I guess, in a way, I did something similar,” Trump said. “We’re making tremendous progress in the U.S.—we have the most tremendous economy ever. I just wanted to congratulate you. I have no doubt you will be a fantastic president.”

In Washington, U.S. Army Lt. Col. Alexander Vindman, a 43-year-old National Security Council staffer, had hurried to the Situation Room in the White House sub-basement to listen in. As the NSC’s director of European affairs, Vindman shared the optimism he heard coming out of Ukraine about Zelensky and his promises of reform. But Vindman was worried about this first phone call between the two leaders. Like others at the White House, he had come to understand that unpredictability was a signature trait of the Trump era. That applied not just to the president’s views on Russia and the region, but also to the way he talked about U.S. policy priorities in public and private settings.

Along with his boss, John Bolton, and others in the White House, Vindman had been eager for the call to happen. It would send the right signal to Putin. Anticipating Zelensky’s victory, Bolton had paved the way in advance, urging Trump to make the call right away, on election night. At Bolton’s direction, Vindman had prepared talking points and had helped with a draft news release that the White House press office would put out after the call.

The talking points called for Trump to congratulate Zelensky, and to remind the new leader of the enduring U.S. interest in an independent Ukraine as an important bulwark against Russia. If Trump followed the script, he would also reiterate the importance of reducing corruption in Ukraine—echoing what U.S. ambassador Marie Yovanovitch had been saying for several years—and offer U.S. support for Ukraine’s economic development, particularly in the energy sector.

Bolton had wanted Trump to make the call before leaving Mar-a-Lago. It hadn’t happened. When the heads-up came, Vindman leapt into his car and raced to the White House from his home in suburban Virginia, arriving in the Situation Room just in time.

Vindman heard Zelensky invite Trump to his inauguration, and then Trump respond that he would “look into it” and, at least, send a “great representative.” Zelensky talked up Ukraine, its people and its food as an enticement for a Trump visit.

“Well, I agree with you about your country and I look forward to it,” Trump said. “When I owned Miss Universe, they always had great people. Ukraine was always very well represented. When you’re settled in and ready, I’d like to invite you to the White House. We’ll have a lot of things to talk about, but we’re with you all the way.”

Trump wasn’t paying attention to Vindman’s talking points, but that was no surprise. Everyone at the NSC was used to the president’s ad-libbed performances. Who knew Miss Universe would come up? The conversation seemed a bit rushed, but friendly and even jovial. Lot of laughter from both sides. Then, the payoff Vindman hadn’t expected: “When you’re settled in and ready, I’d like to invite you to the White House.… We’re with you all the way.”

Given all the noise from Giuliani and company about the ambassador and Ukraine, this was a very promising start, Vindman thought.

When the call ended, Vindman stood and high-fived some of his NSC colleagues. Maybe his fears about Giuliani, and his influence with Trump, would prove groundless after all.






CHAPTER THREE Walking the Fine Line


April 22 and 23, Washington and Hoosick Falls, New York

By Easter Monday, some members of Pelosi’s Democratic caucus had worked themselves into a righteous froth over the Mueller report. Many others wanted to call it a misfire and move on.

For months, Democrats had been impatiently awaiting Mueller like some sort of super-sheriff on a white horse. “It’s Mueller Time!” said T-shirts worn by hopeful partisans. Now “Mueller Time” had come, and it wasn’t anything like what the Democrats had hoped. Caucus members were divided about what to do next.

Pelosi still wasn’t sensing any surge toward impeachment, though. It was still a small group, maybe two dozen. But as usual, she wasn’t taking anything for granted. It was time once again to walk the twisty line between and among the various factions, to honor their disparate views, to sound the right alarms, to keep the pressure on Trump. Before the scheduled 5 p.m. all-caucus conference call, she sent another “Dear Colleague” letter. This one was more explicit and sharper in its language.

She did not avoid the impeachment question. She had to acknowledge that option. “While our views range from proceeding to investigate the findings of the Mueller report or proceeding directly to impeachment, we all firmly agree that we should proceed down a path of finding the truth,” she wrote. She welcomed the relevant committees to keep investigating, especially on the obstruction issue. We can hold a president accountable, she argued, without a formal impeachment inquiry.

“Whether currently indictable or not,” she told them, “it is clear that the President has, at a minimum, engaged in highly unethical and unscrupulous behavior.” She urged her colleagues to remember that “we are proceeding free from passion or prejudice, strictly on the presentation of fact.”

Her caution was evident: Let’s make our next moves methodical and dedicated to gathering evidence. Less evident was whether this would work. Was she trailing rather than leading?



At 5 p.m., House members from all over the country punched in the conference call code. No press, no cameras. But also, no pretense of privacy. With more than 170 people listening, with varying agendas and sharply divergent views, the media would have no trouble getting filled in.

“This isn’t about Democrats or Republicans,” Pelosi told them. “It’s about saving our democracy.” The way to do that, she stressed, was to keep investigating and see where the inquiries lead. She invited the six committee chairmen to lay out their plans. As if to underscore Pelosi’s strategy of continued investigations, Nadler told the members that, just a few minutes before the conference call, his Judiciary Committee had issued a subpoena for former White House counsel Donald McGahn, who was a central witness in Mueller’s probe. The committee also was pressing ahead with plans for both Mueller and Barr to testify.

That wasn’t good enough for some members. Val Demings of Florida, one of twenty-four Democrats on Nadler’s committee, said she was now endorsing an impeachment inquiry. As a 27-year veteran of the Orlando police force, and that department’s first female chief, Demings was a consistent liberal voice who commanded respect among her colleagues. “While I understand we need to see the full report and all supporting documents, I believe we have enough evidence now,” she said.

After hearing a couple of moderate members explain their reasons for opposing impeachment or going slowly, Jared Huffman of California spoke up. We can’t just talk about the political risks of impeachment, he said. There’s also a political implication for not acting, for failing to go forward.

Jim Himes of Connecticut, a leader of the centrist New Democrat Coalition, listened from his home in Greenwich, the wealthy coastal enclave just north of New York City. He wasn’t inclined to take the microphone in these large full-caucus settings. But today he made a passionate plea.

Stand down, he said. Proceeding with any impeachment, at least on the evidence now available, would undermine Democrats, he argued. It was also futile. The Republican-led Senate would never vote to remove Trump. The best way, the only way, to get Trump out of office was to vote him out in 2020, Himes said. Impeachment would be neutral, at best, for the Democrats, Himes felt. At worst, deeply damaging at election time, enough to hand Trump a second term.

Himes spoke for four minutes. Pelosi jumped on him in a way that Himes had not expected. “This is not about politics,” she said. “This is about public sentiment. This is about the Constitution.” Himes had a good relationship with Pelosi. He was on her side. But in this moment, she was shutting him down completely. Himes found it a little scary to be on the receiving end of Pelosi’s cool fury.

She hadn’t yelled at him. She never did that. It was a more graceful, but firm, smack-down. Pelosi wasn’t just powerful because she could hand out plum committee assignments, Himes had learned. Her power was rooted in her support in the caucus and the party, her skill at managing opposing views and her formidable fundraising ability. She had also shown a rare talent for standing up to a president who liked to bully people. Himes knew that lots of people had doubted Pelosi’s leadership after the 2016 election. He didn’t know any Democrats who doubted her now.

Pelosi came away from the call with her strategy intact: Keep investigating. Keep conducting oversight. Keep impeachment in reserve, for now. She had an overwhelming majority backing her, but she wanted her pro-impeachment members to know she agreed with their assessment of Trump’s actions, just not their solution. She had used her “Dear Colleague” letter to say so. Instead of giving the president their blessings, she wrote, “the GOP should be ashamed of what the Mueller report has revealed.”



Republicans dismissed any talk of impeachment or further investigation as ridiculous. “Well, look, I think it’s time to move on,” said Mitch McConnell, after an event in Owensboro, Kentucky. “This investigation was about collusion, there’s no collusion, no charges brought against the president on anything else and I think the American people have had quite enough of it.”

White House press secretary Sarah Huckabee Sanders, appearing on “Fox & Friends,” mocked the Democrats and declared game over. “If they have to get a conference call together to figure out where they’re going from here, they shouldn’t be in office in the first place,” she said. “I think it’s quite sad that they’ve got to have a conference call with all of their members to figure out what they’re going to do with themselves now that the Mueller report is out and proven that there was no collusion and no obstruction.”



In the early evening, Washington Post senior congressional reporter Paul Kane was talking to voters in Hoosick Falls, New York, a village of 3,500 people northeast of Albany, where Upstate New York, Vermont and Massachusetts converge.

Kane wanted to hear what they were thinking about the issues churning in Washington. He was especially interested in the swing districts that had voted for Trump in 2016, only to go Democratic in the 2018 midterms. New York’s 19th fit that profile, so Kane had arranged to travel with Antonio Delgado on Easter Monday as the freshman House member crisscrossed his sprawling district.

Now Delgado stood before 75 people in a Hoosick Falls high school auditorium, discussing the news cycle’s top item: the Mueller report. For seven minutes, he briefed them on the investigation, Trump and Russia.

No one raised a hand. No one clapped or booed or groaned.

Nothing.

He moved on to his legislative agenda, saying he had introduced seven bills. Claps of approval.

He talked about pushing several bipartisan measures to address problems at veterans hospitals. Applause.

He spoke about his support for electoral reform legislation to clean up Washington. Bigger applause.

He told them he was leading an effort to expand Medicare and control health-care costs.

The loudest ovation yet.

Now it was the audience’s turn. Questions came on climate change, a measles outbreak, on jobs. Finally, someone asked about Mueller—a gentle inquiry, wondering if the full, unredacted report might ever be released.

It had been like this all day, as Delgado drove more than 200 miles over 11 hours through the 8,000-square-mile district, encompassing all or part of 11 counties, an area larger than Connecticut and Rhode Island combined. It included the Baseball Hall of Fame in Cooperstown, the site of the Woodstock music festival and parts of the Hudson Valley, from wealthy summer homes to job-starved river towns.

In Tannersville, 50 miles south of Albany, high school students had quizzed him about the opioid and mental-health crises. Over lunch in Leeds, a hamlet near the Hudson River, local business leaders had pleaded for a rural broadband program and more job training. They said their area was running out of plumbers. After lunch, organic farmers told the 6-foot-4-inch former high school basketball star how they protected crops from violent hailstorms.

Delgado was trying hard to stay connected to the district, not to get sucked into the Washington drama. His roots in the region helped. He was 42, African American and had grown up in nearby Schenectady. His wife, documentary filmmaker Lacey Schwartz, was a local. He went to college at Colgate University, in the neighboring congressional district. After a Rhodes Scholarship and Harvard Law School, he had a brief stint as a hip-hop artist in Los Angeles and then had worked as a lawyer in Manhattan.

He returned home to run for Congress in 2018, on a slate of economic development and “kitchen table” issues. He knew those were critical to voters in a region that was once home to major IBM and General Electric plants but now was struggling to replace those jobs. The district had voted for Obama in 2012 by more than six percentage points. Four years later, it had backed Trump by almost seven. Delgado reminded himself constantly of that math. It told him that his district’s voters were not afraid of change—and could change again.

Now, after hearing and watching Delgado talk with voters on this Easter Monday in 2019, one thing stood out to Paul Kane as he wrote his story about the day: Not one voter all day had mentioned impeachment.



The next day at the White House, April 23, Bolton was called to the Oval Office. He found Trump and acting chief of staff Mick Mulvaney on the phone with Giuliani, who was urging Trump to fire Yovanovitch. Bolton could tell that Giuliani was winding the president up with all kinds of allegations against the ambassador, Hillary Clinton and Hunter Biden that Bolton regarded as third-hand or fourth-hand hearsay. Trump was amazed that Yovanovitch hadn’t been dumped yet. He wanted it done, now. He told Bolton to call Zelensky and say the ambassador didn’t speak for the administration.

Bolton didn’t make the call. He had no idea what Yovanovitch had said to Zelensky, so he didn’t know what to tell him to ignore. He called Pompeo, who groaned when he heard that Trump was volcanic. Pompeo said he had already moved up Yovanovitch’s end date to June 1. He thought that would be good enough. Clearly, it wasn’t. Pompeo told Bolton he would order her back to Washington immediately.






CHAPTER FOUR “Courage Is Contagious”


April 24 to May 17, Kyiv and Washington

On Wednesday evening, April 24, Marie Yovanovitch hosted an embassy tribute to Kateryna Handziuk, a 33-year-old Ukrainian civil rights and anti-corruption activist who had died the previous year after an attacker doused her with sulfuric acid outside her home.

This was the ambassador’s opportunity to celebrate Handziuk’s courage and speak out once more about the brutal attack. It was the kind of event she was proud to organize. It said the right things about the United States. It was important, she thought, to show that the U.S. government’s leaders understood that human rights threats were real in Ukraine. Lives were at risk.

Handziuk had died after three months of suffering and nearly a dozen surgeries. In March, at a ceremony honoring the ten 2019 recipients of the State Department’s International Women of Courage award, Pompeo had recognized Handziuk’s bravery. “She refused to be silenced,” the secretary had said, as First Lady Melania Trump listened. “From her hospital bed, she demanded justice, setting a powerful example for her fellow citizens.”

Now in Kyiv, Yovanovitch added her praise. Kateryna had “paid the ultimate price for her fearlessness in fighting against corruption and for her determined efforts to build a democratic Ukraine,” Yovanovitch told her guests, which included Handziuk’s family. After presenting a special “Ukrainian Woman of Courage” framed citation to Handziuk’s father, Victor, she said: “I want to thank everybody, and I want to just remind you that courage is contagious.”



It was the end of an unsettling month for Yovanovitch. By early April, it was clear Pompeo would not be making a personal statement of support for her. No one in Washington could tell her why. Some said Pompeo feared that President Trump might contradict him with an embarrassing tweet. Giuliani and his allies had Trump’s ear for reasons she still didn’t understand, and she knew they were saying awful things about her.

It was confusing to say the least. Philip Reeker, the acting head of the State Department’s European and Eurasian Bureau, had told her he was enthusiastic about her staying an extra year in Ukraine. Now he was telling her that was impossible.

Yovanovitch thought that meant going back to her original timetable, leaving after the July 4 holiday and the embassy’s Independence Day gala, the Kyiv mission’s premier annual event. Three full years in Kyiv was fine; she would come home with her head held high, unbowed by her enemies’ campaign to oust her.

The daily tweets and TV show attacks had eased somewhat, and her direct bosses continued to say she was in good standing with them. She had started to breathe a little easier. She still enjoyed Kyiv, an experience she shared with her mother, Nadia, now 90 and widowed. They had come together to Kyiv, not the typical ambassadorial pairing. There was a large residence for the ambassador, domestic help and lots to keep her mother busy. Nadia needed to use a walker, but she was far from immobile. She had plunged into life in the Ukrainian capital, joining a group of women who made pysanka, the intricately painted Easter eggs the country was known for. Outspoken and spry, she had become a well-known figure on the Kyiv diplomatic circuit.

Yovanovitch tried to ignore the toxic Washington politics and focus on her work. It wasn’t easy. On the night of Zelensky’s big election win, when Trump made his congratulatory call, Yovanovitch had been cut out of the process. She had not been invited to participate, or given a readout afterward. She had heard it went well. She figured that was the best she could hope for under the circumstances.



As Yovanovitch was mingling with her guests at the reception honoring Handziuk, an assistant interrupted. She had an urgent call from Washington. It was 9:45 p.m. in Kyiv, 2:45 p.m. in D.C.

Excusing herself, Yovanovitch went to her office. On the phone was Carol Perez, the State Department official in charge of human resources for the Foreign Service. Perez, a fellow career officer and a friend, said she was calling with a “heads-up.” Things were going wrong for Yovanovitch in Washington. There was a lot of nervous talk about her on the “seventh floor,” shorthand for Pompeo’s office, and “up the street,” department lingo for the White House.

Yovanovitch asked what it was about. Lutsenko? Giuliani? Something else? Perez said she wasn’t sure, promising to find out more. Three hours later, at 1 a.m. Kyiv time, Perez called again. Her tone and message had escalated from anxious to alarming. There’s “a lot of concern” about your security, Perez said. You need to be on the next plane to Washington.

“You mean my physical security?” Yovanovitch asked, incredulous, pressing Perez for more. What did that mean? What was the threat? How could they ask her to come home immediately, without any explanation? If she was being permanently recalled, why couldn’t she stay for another week to pack up and leave properly? Perez couldn’t, or wouldn’t, say.

Yovanovitch hastily messaged her senior aides, asking them to assemble first thing in the morning at her official residence not far from the Dnieper River. At 8 a.m., the shocked gathering listened as she explained what she knew. She asked an assistant to book an immediate flight, but learned that the next available one wasn’t until the following morning.

Perez hadn’t told her if she would be allowed to come back to Kyiv. She assumed she could. She couldn’t pack everything up in 24 hours, and she refused to drag her mother to Washington under such uncertain circumstances. Nadia was better off staying put until it was clear what was going on.



While Yovanovitch was making her arrangements in Kyiv, the phone rang at William B. Taylor Jr.’s modest bungalow in Arlington, the Virginia suburb just outside Washington. It was George Kent, his former State Department colleague, now the deputy at the European and Eurasian Bureau. Kent was calling to ask if Taylor might “hypothetically” be interested in returning to government service as the interim ambassador in Kyiv—the job he held during the George W. Bush administration.

Taylor knew that his good friend, Marie Yovanovitch, was under attack in Ukraine and, strangely, from Giuliani, the president’s personal lawyer. Taylor had seen her on a recent visit to Kyiv, and she had filled him in. She felt under pressure, but she was holding steady. He had no idea that she might be on the verge of being fired. If true, it meant that the rift between the White House and its diplomatic corps was even worse than Taylor thought.

“Why are you asking me this, George?” Taylor pressed.

Kent didn’t want to go into specifics. Taylor was a private citizen, not privy to the government’s internal discussions, so discretion was required. “This is just hypothetical,” Kent repeated.

Taylor wasn’t sure what to say. “Hypothetical” meant he didn’t need to say anything. He hung up thinking, if that was a feeler, it was an odd one. Everything about this episode was dismaying. Why weren’t Pompeo and the State Department speaking out on Yovanovitch’s behalf? In early April, Taylor had joined five other former ambassadors to Ukraine on a strong letter of support for Yovanovitch. They sent it to David Hale at the State Department. They did not send it to the media. They weren’t looking for publicity. They were looking to spur the department into defending her, forcefully and publicly. The allegations in Solomon’s stories were uncorroborated hearsay, they wrote, and “simply wrong.” Allowing these attacks to “stand without strong rebuttal from senior officials” undermined U.S. ambassadors everywhere.

The letter didn’t seem to change anything, and now there was Kent’s call, suggesting the battle was lost.

At the State Department, Deputy Secretary John Sullivan gathered David Hale, Ulrich Brechbuhl and Carol Perez for a tense meeting. Sullivan told them: President Trump has “lost confidence” in Yovanovitch. She had to go. No reason was given. Sullivan simply said they needed to come up with a plan that “brought this matter to a conclusion.”



Later that day, Taylor was still puzzling over his conversation with Kent when the phone rang again.

“It’s no longer hypothetical,” Kent told him. Yovanovitch was out, Kent said, although it wasn’t public yet and wouldn’t be for a while. Kent was trying to get ahead of the curve. The department needed someone steady and seasoned to calm the rattled embassy staff in Kyiv, he said. They also needed a strong U.S. hand to support Zelensky, the newly elected Ukrainian president, as he battled corruption, reformed the government and learned how to deal with the Trump administration. Taylor would serve as acting ambassador—officially, the chargé d’affaires—until a permanent replacement could be confirmed by the Senate.

Taylor wasn’t eager to jump back into his old job. He was 71 and happy at the U.S. Institute for Peace, a prestigious Washington organization created by Congress with the mission to reduce violent conflicts around the world. He had a top-level position, and he cared about the work. He felt it mattered. He needed to think this through, he told Kent. He wanted to seek advice, find out more about what was happening in Ukraine.

The offer posed a unique dilemma for Taylor. For the first time in his half-century career of public service, he was unsure what his duty to his country entailed. It had always been clear during his years at West Point in the late 1960s, then as an infantry officer in Vietnam, then at various government jobs and at the State Department, his professional home for more than two decades. He had never shied away from difficult assignments. He had volunteered for diplomatic posts in Afghanistan and Iraq, where he had tried and—like everyone before him—largely failed to repair those countries’ confounding reconstruction programs. He had served without a moment of regret. He considered those tough tasks on behalf of his country to be part of that “duty.”

During Taylor’s first tour as the Kyiv ambassador, during the last three years of the George W. Bush administration, he had fallen in love with the country. He saw Ukraine as the central front in America’s continuing struggle to keep Russia and Vladimir Putin at bay. But beyond the geopolitics, Taylor had come to admire the Ukrainian people. Through a series of uprisings, many had shown themselves to be idealists determined to shed the centuries-long shadow of Russian dominance.

Zelensky’s overwhelming election victory—and his earnest if sometimes naive-sounding pledges to fight the oligarchs who had looted billions from the former Soviet state—was the latest expression of that character. Taylor saw Ukraine’s “spirit of youth” and the “charm represented by this new president” as evidence of a rare opportunity. With staunch support from the United States and the West, he believed, Ukraine now had a real chance to build a successful democracy and take care of its people.

But he wondered how to square his “duty” with working for Trump, who seemed to reject many of the values that had always guided Taylor. Trump was like no president he had ever served, from either party. He seemed to harbor an unshakable contempt for the so-called deep state. Maybe more importantly, Trump seemed to have an inexplicable and steadfast animosity toward Ukraine.

Taylor kept thinking: How was this a good fit?



After a long flight and a weekend in Washington that seemed to last forever, Marie Yovanovitch was sitting in Phil Reeker’s State Department office at 1 p.m., Monday, April 29, waiting to learn her fate.

She had asked to meet with Brechbuhl, Pompeo’s top aide. That wasn’t going to happen. Reeker told her that Sullivan would be delivering the bad news. She would need to vacate her post in Kyiv as soon as possible. Pompeo had tried to protect her from the “concerted campaign” against her, Reeker said, but couldn’t. Trump had wanted to get rid of her for almost a year.

She was angry, unsure what to believe. The whole thing was beyond comprehension. She and Reeker had spoken a lot about the dishonest smear campaign against her. Now she unloaded on him. Better to shout at him than Sullivan.

At her meeting with Sullivan at 4 p.m., he told her right off: You’ve done nothing wrong. But at this point, he said, it was better for her to just leave the job quickly and quietly, lest the president himself start tweeting against her.

All U.S. ambassadors knew they served “at the pleasure of the president.” But Yovanovitch was dumbfounded that Trump—whom she had never met or spoken to—could have made such a decision against the advice of his own State Department, based on untruths spread by Giuliani and others with their own agendas. Her firing would be taken as a signal in Ukraine that the administration’s anti-corruption policy wasn’t serious, and as a message to American diplomats around the world that their government didn’t have their backs.



That afternoon, Bill Taylor was texting with Kurt Volker, the Trump administration’s special envoy to Ukraine for the negotiations to resolve its military conflict with Russia. Taylor wanted Volker’s take.

“George has asked me to go to Kyiv for a while,” he wrote to Volker at 5:14 p.m.

“Ah… good!!!” Volker responded two minutes later. “You should!”

Taylor tapped out his concern. “George described two snake pits, one in Kyiv and one in Washington.”

Volker kept it light, replying with a smiley face and a sardonic “so what’s new?”

Taylor stayed serious. “Yes, but he described much more than I knew. Very ugly.”

He soon heard that Trump’s ax had fallen on Yovanovitch, but he still wasn’t ready to make up his mind.



Yovanovitch decided she would take some time off from the State Department. If possible, she would spend at least a year at Georgetown University’s Institute for the Study of Diplomacy, something of a refuge for senior diplomats between assignments or ending their government careers.

Her dismissal wasn’t yet public. The press statement was still under review. She decided she might as well stay in Washington for a couple of weeks. She had been planning to come in early May anyway for a special event: The National Defense University, where the military trains those tapped for leadership and where she had earned a graduate degree years earlier, was inducting her into its National Hall of Fame on May 9.

On Monday, May 6, word of her early departure began to circulate in Kyiv. The State Department hastily put out the press statement. Yovanovitch was “concluding her three-year diplomatic assignment in Kyiv,” the statement said, “as planned.”

The community of Ukraine watchers at think tanks and universities, along with several reporters, jumped on the statement as a sham. “I’m totally aghast by reports that US ambassador in #Ukraine is being removed in the wake of intense scandal-mongering by Trump fake news machine,” tweeted Andrew Weiss of the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, calling Yovanovitch “a fine career diplomat who’s been subjected to a stream of insane accusations for the past year.”

At the State Department, David Hale wasn’t happy with the press statement. When he saw the draft, he had objected to the words “as planned.” Delete those, he had recommended. It hadn’t happened.

Several press accounts the next day made clear that Yovanovitch wasn’t ending her tour “as planned.” She was being “recalled” after “political attacks by conservative media outlets and Donald Trump Jr.,” wrote Josh Rogin of The Washington Post. As Rogin’s story was posted online, two top House Democrats made public an April 12 letter they had sent privately to Pompeo, asking him to defend her. Now the authors of that letter, Majority Leader Steny Hoyer and Foreign Affairs chairman Eliot Engel, called on Pompeo to reverse the “White House’s outrageous decision to recall her,” labeling it a “political hit job.”

It felt like a case of too little, much too late. Two days later, Yovanovitch went to the National Defense University for her Hall of Fame induction. She listened to the speakers applaud her integrity, accomplishments and experience. The next day, she flew back to Kyiv to pack up.



The ouster of Yovanovitch had been a major victory for Giuliani and his circle, but Zelensky’s victory had complicated their plans. Their connections were to Poroshenko. Now they would need similar cooperation from Zelensky’s team to generate investigations into Ukrainian meddling in the 2016 election and the Bidens.

Giuliani already had a planned trip to Kyiv for a paid speech about the Middle East. Why not a meeting with president-elect Zelensky at the same time? Giuliani discussed the idea at a meeting in the Oval Office with Trump, Mulvaney, White House counsel Pat Cipollone and Bolton. He said he would press Zelensky for investigations into Hillary Clinton and the 2016 election, or Hunter Biden, or both. Bolton saw the two matters as confused conspiracy theories. He could hardly keep them straight. Trump told Bolton to call Zelensky and urge him to have the meeting. Bolton didn’t do it.

Giuliani made his intentions public, telling the New York Times explicitly of his goals. The article ran May 9, causing a stir in Washington and Kyiv. It was an unsubtle bit of pressure, but maybe it would get results.

In Kyiv, Zelensky and his aides were in a quandary. They didn’t want to be dragged into a domestic political fight in the United States and risk jeopardizing Ukraine’s bipartisan support in Congress. “This is definitely not our war,” a Zelensky confidant told Washington Post reporter Anton Troianovski, who was following up on the Times report. “We have to stay away from this as much as possible.” But they needed Trump’s support, especially in their war with Russia, and it was increasingly clear that persuading Trump meant making Giuliani happy.

As Zelensky and his team struggled with what to tell Giuliani about a meeting, he abruptly canceled his trip. On May 10, he told Fox News host Shannon Bream that he was scrapping the trip because he would be walking into a group of people around Zelensky who “are enemies of the president and in some cases enemies of the United States.”

Alarm bells went off in Kyiv. Zelensky hadn’t been inaugurated yet, and Trump’s personal lawyer was trashing him publicly. The United States had given Ukraine about half a billion dollars a year on average, in political and military aid, since 2015. The International Monetary Fund, with major funding from Washington, was critical to keeping Ukraine’s economy afloat. Zelensky needed Trump. So Zelensky needed Giuliani, or so he thought.

As Zelensky was trying to understand Giuliani’s aims, Giuliani was frustrated that Zelensky hadn’t jumped at the chance to meet him. He wasn’t going to let that stop him, he told Washington Post reporter Josh Dawsey. “What I’m pushing for—don’t let the crooks bury the case for the second time,” he fumed to Dawsey. “It’s all part of a corrupt arrangement between United States political officials of the Democratic Party and Ukrainian officials to dig up dirt on Republicans.” Giuliani was adamant. “I’m going to make sure that nothing scuttles the investigation that I want,” he told Dawsey.

On May 12, Parnas met with Zelensky aide Sergey Shaffer in Kyiv. Parnas conveyed a message from Giuliani: Zelensky needed to announce investigations into the Bidens or the U.S.-Ukraine relationship “would be sour.” Without an announcement of investigations, Parnas said, the Trump administration wouldn’t be sending Vice President Mike Pence to the inauguration.

Later, Parnas messaged Shaffer on WhatsApp. Any updates? Would Zelensky announce the investigations? At that point, Shaffer blocked his messages on WhatsApp. Parnas took that as a no. He called Giuliani to pass along the news.

Parnas found Giuliani’s reply memorable.

“OK, they’ll see,” Giuliani said.



On Monday, May 13, Bill Taylor rushed to the White House for an afternoon meeting with Vindman and Fiona Hill, his boss at the NSC. Taylor was leaning against taking the ambassador post, but he hadn’t closed the door yet. The meeting would give him a chance to get a sense of the White House team he’d be working with, and a better feel for the conflicts over the administration’s policy toward Ukraine.

When Taylor arrived at the Old Executive Office Building, Vindman was waiting for him. Hill arrived about 15 minutes late, distraught over the readout she had received from Trump’s Oval Office meeting earlier in the day with Viktor Orban, Hungary’s far-right nationalist leader.

Orban, largely a pariah among other European Union leaders for his hard-line policies on immigration, freedom of speech and other basic rights, had spent a significant portion of the meeting parroting the Putin line on Ukraine. Ukraine wasn’t “a real country,” Orban told Trump. It was irredeemably corrupt, he insisted. Never mind Zelensky’s election.

Hill had opposed inviting Orban to the White House, concerned about the signal it would send to the rest of the world. She also feared the ideas the Hungarian leader would plant in Trump’s head. Now her worst fears were coming true. It seemed that Trump was buying all of it, she told Taylor and Vindman.

They spent much of their meeting brainstorming ways to counter Orban’s propaganda. Could they get the Polish president, who had a good relationship with Trump and a deep suspicion of the Russians, to counter the Orban-Putin line? “Maybe President Trump will listen” to him, Taylor suggested.

Taylor found Trump’s chummy relationship with Orban troubling. He also was bothered by something else Hill and Vindman told him. The State Department and NSC staff had wanted Trump to sign a congratulatory letter to Zelensky, to be hand-delivered by the official delegation to Zelensky’s inauguration on May 20. Such missives were standard stuff. Vindman had drafted the letter, which had been approved by Hill and national security adviser John Bolton. Trump had refused to sign it.

After nearly five years away from government service, Taylor found it invigorating to be back in the White House, but he emerged from the meeting thinking that he couldn’t do it. He couldn’t serve a president who had such contempt for Ukraine and the Ukrainians. Trump seemed more inclined to support Putin than Ukraine, a key U.S. ally. Their views didn’t have to align, Taylor thought, but they had to intersect somewhere.

At home, Taylor turned to his wife, Deborah, for advice. She leaned liberal, while he had worked for both parties but tended to vote Republican. She also was more cynical about Washington’s ways. “What makes you think they won’t do to you what they did to Masha?” she asked him, referring to Yovanovitch by her nickname.

Deborah Taylor worried about what a stint in Ukraine, even a temporary one, might do to her husband. He had a profound respect for the regular diplomatic channels and an instinct for compromise. Both were potentially lethal traits inside the Trump administration, she thought. She urged him to turn down the job.

Taylor had been working his contacts, and he didn’t like what he was hearing. People—not only Deborah—were advising him to stay clear. He reached out to Stephen Hadley, who had served as George W. Bush’s national security adviser. Hadley was one of the few Republican foreign policy stalwarts who had tried to maintain a working relationship with Trump and his foreign policy inner circle. He would understand Taylor’s misgivings.

Taylor rattled off the risks—political, reputational and personal. His biggest worry, he told Hadley, was that his service to Trump might end up doing more harm than good. Could he serve a president whose values and worldview ran counter to his? Hadley’s counsel was sobering and to the point. “If your country asked you to do something, you should do it, but only if you can be effective,” he said. “And the only way you’ll know you can be effective is if you have the support of Pompeo.”

A good idea, Taylor thought, but he was reluctant to ask for a meeting with the secretary of state. It seemed presumptuous. On the other hand, it would be a good test. He would need Pompeo’s backing to succeed in this politically fraught assignment. If the secretary declined to meet, Taylor would know that he probably couldn’t count on Pompeo if push came to shove. Taylor put in the request.

The more he thought about it, though, the more he became convinced that he should not take the job. He had an idea who should: Kurt Volker.

Taylor called Volker and urged him to consider it. Volker already knew some of the terrain, he had relationships in Ukraine, he had a firsthand view of the Russian conflict as Trump’s special envoy. He could step right in, without a steep learning curve.

But Volker wasn’t looking for a full-time, all-consuming government post. He was serving as the special envoy as a volunteer, without pay, so that he could continue to work his paid job as the executive director of the McCain Institute for International Leadership, set up by the Arizona senator in 2012. Volker also had a side gig as senior adviser at the BGR Group, a lobbying firm. He had kids in college and was about to get remarried. He couldn’t afford the pay cut, he told Taylor.

As they texted back and forth, it was clear both had reservations about Trump’s Washington.

“I’m still trying to navigate this new world,” Volker wrote.

“I’m not sure that’s a world I want to set foot in,” Taylor replied.

He couldn’t hesitate for much longer. He needed to pass or commit fully. Otherwise, he would never survive or accomplish anything.

In or out? He still wasn’t sure. He hoped to hear from Pompeo soon.






CHAPTER FIVE High Fives


May 20, Kyiv

Volodymyr Zelensky high-fived cheering fans outside the Ukrainian parliament building as he made his way to his swearing-in as president. The slender 41-year-old, in a dark blue suit and matching tie, bounced among his supporters like a teenager, gleefully jumping up to kiss an older man on his bald head.

He posed for selfies. Hundreds of upraised phones snapped his picture. Then he bounded up the wide steps covered in a red carpet. Guards swung open the massive double doors to the main parliament chamber.

Lawmakers at their desks applauded vigorously as Zelensky walked briskly to the front. There, he placed his right hand on a copy of the Ukrainian constitution and the Peresopnytsia Gospel, a thick and tattered gold-colored religious text from the 16th century, and took the oath of office.

In his first act as head of state, he smiled broadly and announced that he was disbanding parliament. He ordered new elections in two months and demanded that lawmakers strip themselves of their long-standing right to immunity from prosecution. He called on them to remove the head of the security services, the defense minister and the prosecutor general from their posts. If the startled members of the suddenly lame-duck parliament had been wondering whether Zelensky was serious about shaking up the government, they had their answer.

“I really do not want my pictures in your offices. No portraits! A president is not an icon, an idol, or a portrait,” Zelensky said. “Put photographs of your children there instead. And before making any decision, look them in the eyes.”



The U.S. delegation, led by energy secretary Rick Perry, sat in a reserved section of the chamber, listening through earpieces to the translation of the young president’s bold rhetoric. This was not the usual speech. This was a breath of badly needed fresh air in a country rife with corruption. There was even a line that seemed tailored just for them. Quoting “one American actor” who became “a cool American president,” Zelensky embraced one of Ronald Reagan’s signature statements: “Government is not the solution to our problem; government is the problem.”

Zelensky’s message was clear. Corruption was his nemesis, the government itself was his target. Marie Yovanovitch had been making much the same arguments in her anti-corruption speeches. She was in Kyiv, packing up to leave with her mother later in the day, but she was not invited. The embassy’s number two, Joseph Pennington, was taking her place at the inaugural festivities. In one of her last official acts, she recorded a farewell video for the embassy’s social media accounts, pledging that U.S. support would continue for the new Zelensky administration. She made no mention of the circumstances that had led to her ouster.

Yovanovitch’s ouster left the U.S. Embassy with no ambassador at this critical moment of transition in the Ukrainian government. Similarly, the delegation list for the inauguration had been in flux for weeks. At first, Vice President Pence was going. Then he wasn’t. No one at the NSC or the embassy, working together on the list, was quite sure why.

The date for the inauguration had not been set until four days before, complicating planning efforts. Pence’s schedule was tight, as usual, but not even Pence’s adviser on Europe, Jennifer Williams, knew whether that was the reason. A White House aide had called a week before the inauguration, informing her that Trump had told Pence not to go. No explanation offered.

Pence’s absence bothered Zelensky’s team. They had hoped the vice president would be there as a show of Trump’s support, in part because Vice President Biden had led the U.S. delegation to Poroshenko’s inauguration in 2014. They tried to find out, but no one was saying much beyond the usual reasons—schedules, timing. First, Trump had fired the ambassador. Now this. The relationship wasn’t off to a good start. How much had Trump soured on Ukraine? It was worrisome.

David Holmes, a senior adviser at the embassy, had a theory about Pence’s pullout. It could be summed up in two words: Rudy Giuliani. Since Zelensky’s election in April, Giuliani had been all over the media, making his usual noise about Ukraine, calling on the new president to investigate Joe Biden’s son and to find out about any Ukrainian interference in the 2016 U.S. election. Then there was Giuliani’s “enemies of the president” comment about the people around Zelensky. That sort of harsh rhetoric made it easy for Trump to tell Pence not to go.

Giuliani had no official U.S. job, but he occupied a dual role that was creating plenty of confusion. His designation in 2017 as a cybersecurity adviser to Trump had been useful for him as he sought and landed consulting gigs abroad, including a contract to help the Ukrainian city of Kharkiv improve emergency services. Then in 2018, his appointment as Trump’s personal lawyer had put him in the public eye on a nearly daily basis. Now, when he talked about Ukraine, was he speaking for the president? Himself? Both? Neither the embassy nor the NSC staff could figure it out. In their view, it was maddening, disruptive and a threat to U.S. policy.

Without Pence, without an ambassador, the U.S. delegation to the inauguration was a patchwork arrangement. The final list, whittled down to five, had firepower. But it was less senior than Holmes and others had hoped. Rick Perry took Pence’s place. Joining him was Kurt Volker. From the NSC came the council’s top Ukraine expert, U.S. Army Lt. Col. Alexander Vindman. Accompanying them, but technically not a delegation member, was Senator Ron Johnson, a Wisconsin Republican and a longtime defender of Ukraine’s interests.

Also on the list: Gordon Sondland, the U.S. ambassador to the European Union, a choice that surprised some at the NSC and the embassy. Ukraine wasn’t an E.U. member, which meant Sondland had no obvious role. When Sondland’s name showed up on the early drafts of the delegation list, the list makers removed him. Sondland made a few phone calls, to State, to Mulvaney’s office at the White House. The White House put him back on.

Sondland, Volker and Perry didn’t know each other well, but their views on Ukraine aligned, for the most part. They felt the new president needed the Trump administration’s strong support to check neighboring Russia. That support required continuing U.S. aid. Anything less would send the wrong signal to Russia.

Volker was hoping they could put a Trump-Zelensky meeting on track. Trump had already suggested one in his April 21 phone call after Zelensky’s election. A high-profile visit to the White House, with a coveted sit-down in the Oval Office, would send the right message to Putin.

Before leaving for Kyiv, Vindman had drafted a congratulatory letter from Trump. The idea was for the delegation to deliver it to Zelensky as a show of good relations between the two nations. The draft went up the line for the president’s signature, but it never came back. Vindman didn’t know what happened, but he suspected it had to do with the anti-Zelensky narrative being pushed by Giuliani.

On Inauguration Day, a brilliantly sunny Monday, the delegation met with U.S. Embassy officials for an 8 a.m. briefing. Giuliani’s bashing of Ukraine on TV and social media came up. What was Giuliani’s agenda? David Holmes, from the embassy, found Sondland’s reaction memorable. “Dammit. Rudy,” Sondland said. “Every time Rudy gets involved, he goes and fucks everything up.”



At the parliament building, the delegation arrived to find crowds, camaraderie and a collection of foreign dignitaries. Putin was not among them. The Russian president, who saw Zelensky as a new and more vocal opponent in the regional power struggle, gave no sign that he was ready to compromise. Putin’s spokesman pointedly asserted that Crimea, which Russia had seized by military force in 2014, was “a region of Russia.”

Now, in his inaugural address, Zelensky said that ending the war in eastern Ukraine was his top priority. He would “make the fire stop.” But he would not cede territory to Russia to do so. Those lands belonged to Ukraine, and they must be returned to Ukraine, he said. He promised to find a way. “I am ready to lose my popularity, my ratings and—if need be—I am ready to lose this post in order to bring peace.”

The parliament came to its feet, cheering, applauding. The parliament he had just fired. It was a surreal moment. Zelensky closed by trying to lift Ukraine’s spirits. “All my life I tried to do all I could so that Ukrainians laughed. That was my mission,” he said. “Now I will do all I can so that Ukrainians, at least, do not cry anymore.”

The U.S. delegation was caught up in the bright, shiny Zelensky moment. “The United States will stand with the people of Ukraine,” Perry said at a press conference after the ceremony. “America is here to send a clear message. The president of the United States has asked us to come, to share with the people of Ukraine, that they can count on the United States, count on working with this president.”

Outside the parliament building, the U.S. officials gathered with Zelensky and his wife for an official photo. They stood on a red carpet, in the glare of the sunlight. Zelensky, eager for U.S. support, held a private session with the delegation. Perry came with a list of people he trusted in the energy industry. He encouraged Zelensky to consult with them.

Vindman offered Zelensky two bits of advice. Both were warnings. Beware of Russia, he said. Be even more alert than you already are. Also, stay out of U.S. domestic politics. Beware of “nongovernmental actors” asking you to investigate anything. He did not mention any names.

The U.S. delegation members came away impressed. Vindman saw the new president as a willing partner who would root out corruption, lock in reforms and allow Ukraine to prosper. Volker agreed. He thought Zelensky was genuinely interested in taking Ukraine in a new direction. Sondland found him articulate, funny, charming, smart and energetic. An outsider unafraid of entrenched government power. The kind of guy who would have good chemistry with Trump.

They planned to tell the president just that when they returned to Washington.






CHAPTER SIX The I-Word


May 22, Washington

Nancy Pelosi called a caucus meeting for 9 a.m. on Wednesday, May 22. Impeachment was gaining ground. She had to put up a stop sign.

On Monday night, at the weekly strategy session with her senior leadership team, four members of Jerry Nadler’s Judiciary Committee had come at her with a full-court press, arguing that the committee should open a formal impeachment inquiry. She had resisted. A few hours later, Nadler himself had buttonholed her, making his case, lobbying hard.

Give us the green light, Nadler said. Trump is impeding our efforts to follow up on the Mueller report. The committee could go to court, asking for help in enforcing its subpoenas, but that could take months. Opening a formal impeachment inquiry, invoking the House’s constitutional powers, could be the best way to obtain the documents and get testimony that Trump was blocking.

Pelosi said no. Too soon, she said. Too risky. Too far ahead of the public. The other committees were making progress in their investigations, and that was the way to go. Earlier in the day, a federal judge had ruled against Trump in a lawsuit, upholding a subpoena issued by the House Committee for Oversight and Reform, which was looking into the president’s financial dealings. Keep investigating, Pelosi told Nadler. Let the court battles play out.

Nadler had retreated, grumbling. So had the others. They were a minority, still small, no more than three dozen, if that. But Pelosi needed to prick the balloon before it grew any larger.

Now, facing the full caucus in the windowless meeting room known simply as HC5, she turned to her trusted senior leaders to make the case. Five were particularly key: Steny Hoyer and Elijah Cummings of Maryland, James Clyburn of South Carolina, Eliot Engel of New York and John Lewis of Georgia. Arrayed before them, on simple mesh-backed chairs with no armrests, sat close to 200 people with varying loyalties and agendas.

Empty, the room seemed spacious, row after row of 20 seats across, divided by a narrow aisle. Full, it felt cramped. Outside, it was lovely May weather, clear skies, temperatures heading toward 73 degrees. But HC5 was underground, and there was a restless current running through the room as the senior leaders repeated Pelosi’s message: Keep investigating. Keep accumulating evidence. Until we know more, until we can show more, talk of impeachment is premature.

These five had a special kind of cred to make that argument. They had been here before, 20 years ago. The five had stood, with dozens of other Democrats, behind President Bill Clinton on the White House lawn on that December day in 1998 when the Republican-controlled House had voted to impeach him. They knew how it felt—the despair, the irrevocable rift. “It tore the country apart” was how House member Anna G. Eshoo of California remembered it.

Eshoo was a Pelosi loyalist to the core. They were close in age, Eshoo just two years younger, and closer as friends. The two usually agreed on matters of policy and politics. Together, they had watched and learned from Clinton’s impeachment.

In 1998, the public clearly understood the case against Clinton revolved around an extramarital affair and lying under oath to cover it up. A crime, perhaps, but the Democrats had argued it wasn’t a high crime, certainly not the kind that merited impeachment and removal. Clinton was acquitted by the Republican-controlled Senate, with a handful of GOP senators defecting to the Democrats on one of the two impeachment articles. Now House Democrats were trying to piece together a case from the Mueller report, which wasn’t conclusive in many of its findings. Building public support would take time, if it could be built at all. Pelosi was right, Eshoo felt. They needed to tap the brakes. It’s very difficult to un-ring a bell, she thought.

Pelosi’s stance was shaped by the voter backlash that greeted Republicans in 1998. Weeks after opening their formal impeachment inquiry of Clinton, the Republicans had fared badly in the midterm elections. The Democrats had gained five House seats, hardly a windfall, but the opposite of the historical pattern: An incumbent president’s party, in a second term, generally loses seats—often, quite a lot of them.

At the caucus meeting, Pelosi hammered home the point that the public had to be with you for impeachment to work. She believed that the public would never support a strictly partisan impeachment, or one over a policy disagreement. That’s a key reason she had opposed calls from antiwar liberals to impeach Republican president George W. Bush for his handling of the Iraq War.

Pelosi knew these arguments were unlikely to sway the caucus’s most progressive members, including Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez of the Bronx. AOC, as she was known to her legion of fans on social media, had already ensured a place for herself in congressional history. At 29, she had become the youngest woman ever elected to the House. Not only that, she got there by knocking off a powerful House leader in her 2018 primary. She had defeated Joe Crowley, the Democratic caucus chair, a ten-termer widely regarded as a possible speaker.

Since arriving in Washington, Ocasio-Cortez had been treating other party elders with the same deference she had shown Crowley—speaking her mind, demanding change, pushing, pushing, pushing from the left. But she wasn’t a gadfly. She had not joined the small movement advocating for someone other than Pelosi in the speaker’s chair, saying in a November 21 tweet that included a clever qualifier: “All the challenges to Leader Pelosi are coming from her right, in an apparent effort to make the party even more conservative and bent toward corporate interests. Hard pass. As long as Leader Pelosi remains the most progressive candidate for Speaker, she can count on my support.”

On the day of the Mueller report’s release in April, Ocasio-Cortez put herself firmly on the record as pro-impeachment. The day before the caucus meeting, after Trump had blocked former White House counsel Don McGahn from testifying before the House Judiciary Committee, she retweeted another progressive House member’s call for impeachment and added: “It is just as politicized a maneuver to not impeach in the face of overwhelming evidence as it is to impeach w/o cause. Congress swore an oath to uphold the Constitution. That includes impeachment.”

Now, as Pelosi and her leadership team took questions, Ocasio-Cortez spoke up. The “only thing” that gave her pause, she said, was the Senate. She knew impeachment would die there. But that wasn’t a reason for the House to shy away from doing what was necessary and right.

Pelosi’s cautious counsel also wasn’t swaying David Cicilline of Rhode Island, a junior member of her leadership team. Cicilline wasn’t a newcomer to politics. He had served eight years as mayor of Providence and was now in his fifth congressional term. He wanted an impeachment inquiry. Listening to the debate at the meeting helped clarify his thinking. “We need to vindicate the rule of law in this country and demonstrate that you cannot just trash the Constitution,” he said afterward, “and expect the Congress of the United States to accept that.”

The agitation from her left was a concern for Pelosi, but for the moment, it was no threat to her leadership. After the brief challenge to her candidacy for speaker had fizzled, she had managed to unify and solidify her grip on the caucus. Republicans had helped by painting her as the enemy, a liberal bogeyman. And whatever doubts remained about her leadership abilities, most had been washed away in January, when she had outplayed Trump over a lengthy government shutdown.

So when Pelosi argued to the caucus that the court battles were moving in the Democrats’ direction, that it was time to be patient, she had a clear majority on her side. No impeachment. Not yet anyway. Trump was still not worth it.



After the meeting, NBC’s Kasie Hunt grabbed Ocasio-Cortez for a brief interview, curious about the pro-impeachment faction’s reaction.

“Are you satisfied with what leadership had to say?” Hunt asked.

“You know, I think,” Ocasio-Cortez said, “I was satisfied with the openness of the conversation and the discourse that we’re having as a caucus.”

Pelosi stepped to the microphones, staying on message. “It was a very positive meeting, a respectful sharing of ideas and a very impressive presentation by our chairs. We do believe it’s important to follow the facts, we believe that no one is above the law, including the president of the United States.”

Then she dropped a verbal hand grenade. The recent victories for the Democrats in court, she said, demonstrated something damning about the president. “We believe that the president of the United States is engaged in a cover-up—in a cover-up.”

The statement was intentional, not improvised. She was making a point. Her caucus was under control, but many were angry. She was venting that anger for them, in arresting language that she hadn’t used before.



An hour later, Pelosi and Chuck Schumer arrived at the White House for talks with Trump about infrastructure. Despite the bad blood over the Mueller report, the leaders on both sides were looking for a deal that would put massive new investment in the nation’s crumbling roads, bridges and airports. It was necessary, it was important, it had public support.

Today’s agenda was to discuss how to pay the huge tab, or the “pay fors” in legislative shorthand. Pelosi and Schumer suspected that Trump didn’t have his “pay fors” lined up, and that they wouldn’t be making much progress. They were seated at the Cabinet Room’s long conference table when Trump walked in, a few minutes late. He didn’t bother to sit down. He was on a tear, steamed up over Pelosi’s “cover-up” remark.

He stood at the end of the table, making no move toward his regular seat in the middle. “I want to do infrastructure. I want to do it more than you want to do it. I’d be really good at that, that’s what I do,” he said. “But you know what? You can’t do it under these circumstances. So get these phony investigations over with.”

He then walked out, without giving anyone else a chance to speak. Pelosi thought to herself: This was a waste of time. Back on Capitol Hill, she told reporters that Trump had a “temper tantrum” and then said: “I pray for the president of the United States, and I pray for the United States of America.”

Still fuming, the president bounded into an impromptu press conference in the Rose Garden. “Instead of walking in happily into a meeting, I walk in to look at people that have just said that I was doing a cover-up,” he said. “I don’t do cover-ups.”

He threw in some choice remarks about Pelosi’s morning meeting with her caucus. “All of a sudden I hear last night they’re going to have a meeting right before this meeting to talk about the ‘I-word.’ The ‘I-word.’ Can you imagine?”

His anger flowed into his Twitter account. At 1 p.m. came a four-part series of tweets. “So sad that Nancy Pelosi and Chuck Schumer will never be able to see or understand the great promise of our Country. They can continue the Witch Hunt which has already cost $40M and been a tremendous waste of time and energy for everyone in America.… You can’t investigate and legislate simultaneously—it just doesn’t work that way.”

The last of the thread was aimed directly at Pelosi. “Democrat leadership is tearing the United States apart, but I will continue to set records for the American People—and Nancy, thank you so much for your prayers, I know you truly mean it!”



After Trump’s dramatic exit, Pelosi was the headline speaker at an afternoon event hosted by the Center for American Progress, a progressive think tank.

The center’s director, Neera Tanden, was acting as moderator, but Pelosi didn’t need much prompting. She called her meeting with Trump “very, very, very strange,” which got the progressive crowd laughing. She described the various court challenges, the battle over the president’s financial records at Deutsche Bank and his continued refusal to turn over his tax returns. She said he was ignoring subpoenas from Congress, which had been one of the articles of impeachment against Nixon in 1974. “In plain sight, in the public domain, this president is obstructing justice and is engaged in a cover-up,” she said. “And that could be an impeachable offense.”

The crowd applauded loudly. But reporters at the event were confused: Now Pelosi is dropping the I-word, the word she was trying to tamp down? Is she holding the caucus back, or pushing it ahead? What’s going on here?



The day’s rhetorical fireworks lit up the political echo chambers. Trump’s retort to Pelosi—“I don’t do cover-ups”—became the basis for a mini-meme, generating a flood of references to the $130,000 in hush money paid to adult-film star Stormy Daniels. A popular version included an image of one $35,000 Trump check to his former lawyer, Michael Cohen, who acted as middleman for the Daniels transaction.

On the conservative side, it was Pelosi’s dropping of the I-word and her repeated use of “cover-up” that dominated talk shows and Twitter. On Fox News, Republican representative Andy Biggs of Arizona said Pelosi “threw gas on the fire” with her language. Biggs said she was “trying to incite and mollify, quite frankly, her base and those in her caucus who want an impeachment hearing.”

Lou Dobbs, one of Trump’s most passionate defenders on Fox, teed off on the Democrats during his evening show. “Nancy Pelosi, Chuck Schumer, Adam Schiff, Jerry Nadler and the rest of the radical Dimms leading the Democratic Party into the abyss with their coarse, vapid and vile politics… The Dimms are no longer borderline evil. They’ve crossed that line. And with Nancy Pelosi’s senseless baseless claims today, among which that the president is involved in a cover-up, she’s consigned her party to futility and failure in 2020.”

A few hours later, just before 10:30 p.m., Trump tweeted his last Pelosi volley of the evening. “In a letter to her House colleagues, Nancy Pelosi said: ‘President Trump had a temper tantrum for us all to see.’ This is not true. I was purposely very polite and calm, much as I was minutes later with the press in the Rose Garden. Can be easily proven. It is all such a lie!”






CHAPTER SEVEN “They Tried to Take Me Down!”


May 23, Washington

Drew Harwell, a Washington Post reporter specializing in coverage of the digital world, was at home in Silver Spring, Maryland, early on Thursday morning, May 23, sifting through his overnight emails. One caught his still-sleepy eyes.

A tipster had written from the West Coast, saying he had come across something odd. It was a video of Nancy Pelosi posted online. She was giving a talk, and she seemed drunk. The tipster suspected the clip was a fake. Googling for reporters with a track record for writing about doctored videos, he had found Harwell’s name.

Take a look, he urged Harwell.

Harwell clicked.

The video was of Pelosi’s appearance the day before at the Center for American Progress. A moderator was asking her questions. Many reporters were there, listening as she said Donald Trump’s refusal to cooperate with House investigators amounted to a “cover-up” that “could be an impeachable offense.”

Harwell listened now, too. She did sound drunk, just as the tipster had said. She was slurring phrases, “the United Schtates of Uh-merica.” But it was so blatant that Harwell thought it couldn’t possibly be authentic. Wouldn’t somebody in the press have noticed if the Speaker of the House had shown up in such a dreadful state? Especially while accusing the president of a cover-up? Everything pointed to a fake.

Politics wasn’t Harwell’s beat. But he had been reading the recent news stories about Pelosi and her impeachment balancing act. Was the video a political dirty trick, an attempt to undermine her credibility when she needed to be at the top of her game?

Still in his sweatpants, Harwell began thinking through his next steps. First and most important: Was the video already circulating widely? That was his baseline criterion for investigating doctored videos. Why give oxygen to something no one had seen?

Harwell had been down these digital pathways before. In November 2018, White House press secretary Sarah Huckabee Sanders had shared a video online of CNN White House reporter Jim Acosta at that day’s briefing. Acosta was pressing for an answer to his questions, using a hand-held microphone, and a young White House aide had come over to take it away. Their arms collided as Acosta fended off her reach for the mic. Working with experts at The Post and elsewhere, Harwell discovered that the version had been altered by someone—slowed down, and a few frames copied and added—to make Acosta seem more aggressive.

That story had put Harwell on the radar of tipsters who wanted to alert him to other fakes. The Pelosi video merited more scrutiny. As with the Acosta video, it would be easy enough to find C-SPAN’s recording for comparison.

It wasn’t yet 7:30 a.m. when Harwell started his digital dive. Checking Facebook, he saw the questionable video on multiple pages. On one, run by a conservative site called Politics WatchDog, the video already had nearly a million views. Enough to keep going, Harwell thought.

He watched the C-SPAN version. Pelosi sounded normal. He adjusted the playback speed to 75 percent, an option while using YouTube. Bingo. Pelosi sounded like she had in the other video. Harwell forwarded the link to several forensic experts he knew from earlier stories. He sent queries to YouTube, Facebook, Twitter and Google, seeking comment. Around the same time, one of the experts got back to him. No doubt. The video had been deliberately doctored.

Harwell messaged Elyse Samuels, a colleague on The Washington Post video team. Samuels was a whiz at analyzing video. She determined that, as Harwell had suspected, the speed had been slowed to about 75 percent. But that wasn’t all, she told him. To correct for how the speed change would deepen the tone of Pelosi’s voice, the video had been altered to modify her pitch. It was simple to do. No high-tech wizardry required.

One key question remained: Was it a political smear? Maybe it was just somebody trying to be funny. But if politics wasn’t part of the agenda, why choose Pelosi to mock? Logically, it seemed safe to say that the person wasn’t a Pelosi fan. And that “somebody” was placing the fake video on message boards and regional news sites. The original tipster had emailed back, saying he had seen it on the Oregonian newspaper’s site, in the comments section of all places.

Whatever the motive, Harwell thought, the episode showed how even simple, crude manipulations could move quickly through the digital ecosystem. Soon, people who hadn’t even seen the video would be saying: Did you hear about Nancy Pelosi? How she was drunk at a speech?

As his editor had said when Harwell alerted him, this was turning out to be a good story.



While Harwell was chasing down the origins of the doctored video, Pelosi was back on the public stage, holding her weekly news conference on Capitol Hill.

After taking the “I” word for a test drive at her Center for American Progress talk, after Trump’s storming out of their meeting on infrastructure, Pelosi was expecting a larger-than-usual crowd of reporters with tougher-than-usual questions. A C-SPAN camera crew was there, of course.

She primed the pump, using the word “cover-up” again, just as she had the day before. She brought up Trump’s walkout, calling it a “temper tantrum” and a “stunt,” part of his “bag of tricks” to divert attention from his many problems.

Cover-up. That word again, echoes of the Nixon Watergate scandal. Was this Pelosi’s not-so-subtle way of indicating a shift from no, he’s not worth it, to hold on, I might be changing my mind? Or was this that favorite Washington gambit, a trial balloon, to see how the public might react? Or was this just more of the same, another Pelosi attempt to appease those in her caucus who were demanding that she push the “I” button?

The reporters were keen to ask. But before they had their chance, Pelosi said, “The House Democratic Caucus is not on a path to impeachment.” Then, in the same breath, she offered a new and provocative explanation for her resistance. Impeachment was what Trump wanted, she claimed. Impeachment was part of his reelection strategy. Impeachment would allow him to play the victim, knowing the Senate would never vote to convict him. By not taking the bait, Pelosi was thwarting his plan.

“That’s where he wants us to be,” she said.

When the time came for questions, the reporters aimed directly at her subtle shifts in position. “Yesterday you said that the president may have engaged in impeachable offenses,” one said. “Yet today, you’re saying you’re not on a path to impeachment. Can you explain why you’re opposed to launching an impeachment inquiry that many of your members want to do?”

Pelosi maneuvered around the question, circling it, addressing both sides. “Let me be really, very clear. The president’s behavior in terms of his obstruction of justice, the things that he is doing, it’s very clear, it’s in plain sight, it cannot be denied. Ignoring subpoenas, obstruction of justice. Yes, these could be impeachable offenses.”

But investigation was the best route for now, she said. “Impeachment is a very divisive place to go in our country. And what—we can get the facts to the American people through our investigation, it may take us to a place that is unavoidable in terms of impeachment, or not. But we’re not at that place.”

Pelosi had a plan. She had told her aides: She wanted to deliberately wind Trump up. Let him reveal himself as erratic and volatile. At the end of her prepared remarks, she said: “Again, I pray for the president of the United States. I wish that his family or his administration or his staff would have an intervention for the good of the country.” Calling for an “intervention” would get a rise out of him, no doubt.

It didn’t take long. A few hours later, Trump turned a White House event on federal aid to farmers into a fuming gripe session about Nancy Pelosi. He said her family intervention remark was “a nasty-type statement.” He said she had “lost it” mentally. He suggested that a new North American trade deal under negotiation was too complicated for her to understand. He denied that he wanted to be impeached.

Trump loved insulting schoolyard nicknames, like “Cryin’ Chuck” Schumer and “Crooked Hillary.” But he hadn’t come up with a keeper for Pelosi. He made a stab with “Crazy Nancy,” but then immediately told the reporters, “I don’t want to say that, because then you’ll say it’s a copy of ‘Crazy Bernie,’ ” his moniker for Democratic presidential candidate Bernie Sanders of Vermont.

He said he was certain about one thing, though. Pelosi had changed. “I’ve been watching her for a long period of time. She’s not the same person.”

Something about Pelosi seemed to bug him. Perhaps he was frustrated that his verbal blows seemed to land on her like so many downy feathers. Perhaps he found her harder to deal with because she was a woman. Whatever it was, she needed to use it to her advantage.

For the moment, she had Trump red in the face and her caucus under control. Not a bad place to be. For the moment.



As Pelosi was talking to reporters at the Capitol, four men sat in the Oval Office, talking to Trump about their trip to Ukraine for the Zelensky inauguration three days earlier. It wasn’t going well.

Gordon Sondland was settled in one armchair. Next to him, getting more uncomfortable by the minute, were Rick Perry, Volker and Senator Ron Johnson. Sondland could hear White House aides coming and going behind him, but he wasn’t registering who was there. He was too focused on the problem right in front of him: a very unhappy-looking president of the United States.

Sondland and the others had arranged the meeting. They had wanted to give Trump a report on the inauguration trip and promote Ukraine’s new president as a corruption-buster worthy of Trump’s support. But they had barely sat down when Trump interrupted. He wasn’t buying it. He wasn’t interested. The Ukrainians were not on his list of favorite people.

“They were out to get me,” he said. “They tried to take me down.”

Trump railed on, complaining about Ukrainian deceit and treachery. “Horrible, corrupt people,” he said. Sondland was alarmed. So was Volker. Their goal of arranging a Trump-Zelensky meeting was in trouble. Trump doesn’t want anything to do with Ukraine, Sondland thought. His hostility is deep and intense.

The problem was quickly apparent to him and Volker. They were too late. Others had the president’s attention on Ukraine, including Rudy Giuliani, who was peddling an ominous, darker story: that Ukraine’s new president was one more bad guy, with bad people around him, bent on doing bad things.

“Talk to Rudy,” Trump told them. “Rudy knows.”

Rudy. Rudy. Rudy. Everything seemed to come back to Giuliani.

Now, with Trump saying, “Rudy knows,” Sondland was realizing that Giuliani wasn’t some rogue actor. He was Trump’s eyes and ears. If the “Three Amigos”—as Sondland had jokingly referred to himself, Perry and Volker—had any hope of changing the Ukraine narrative, they would have to talk to Rudy, Sondland thought.

But first, they needed to emerge from the meeting with something they could use to repair the damage Giuliani was doing. Sondland could see that it wasn’t going to be easy. Trump was repeating himself, like a needle stuck on an old-fashioned record album. “They tried to take me down,” he was saying. “Terrible people.”

Volker saw an opening. Instead of arguing, he told Trump: You’re right. Ukraine has long been a terrible place. Corruption is endemic. Zelensky agrees with you. He ran on a campaign to clean it up, and that’s why he won. It won’t be easy. He’ll meet with fierce and powerful resistance. That’s why he needs your support. He can’t do it alone.

For two years, Volker had been serving as Trump’s special envoy to Ukraine, with a mission to help the country in its hostile standoff with Russia. He had the most Ukraine experience in the room, and he leaned on that credibility now. He described Zelensky as Ukraine’s best chance in 20 years to break the grip of corruption that had held the country back since winning its independence from Russia.

Volker had only met Trump in person once before. It wasn’t a positive experience. In September 2017, Trump was scheduled for a talk with then–Ukrainian president Petro Poroshenko at the U.N. General Assembly in New York. Before the meeting, Volker wanted to persuade Trump that Ukraine was worthy of U.S. support. For months, Trump had been making clear that he wanted a better rapport with Russia. Volker feared that Trump’s overtures toward Putin might mean sacrificing good relations with Ukraine.

Just before Trump’s arrival then secretary of state Rex Tillerson told Volker that he should expect about 45 seconds to grab the president’s interest. Volker had been hoping for 15 minutes. He rushed through his pitch. Trump’s impatient reply sounded, to Volker, like talking points from Putin’s script.

Trump argued that Ukraine was really part of Russia, that most Ukrainians wanted to have a close relationship with Moscow, that the country was “totally corrupt,” more a kleptocracy than a democracy. Volker knew enough not to contradict the president. “You’re making some good points, sir,” he told Trump, and then tried to steer the conversation in a more pro-Ukraine direction.

Now, in the Oval Office, Volker could see that the president’s skepticism of Ukraine had only hardened. To Volker, Trump’s antagonistic stance made no sense. The administration’s strong support of Ukraine, which had bipartisan backing, had been a foreign policy success story for Trump. The election of Zelensky, a charismatic, pro-Western leader, suggested that even better days lay ahead.

“This is a new crowd,” Volker told Trump. “This guy is different.”

“That’s not what I hear,” Trump said. “I hear he’s got some terrible people around him.”

The amigos tried different tacks, taking turns. Sondland told Trump he was excited about Zelensky, about his team. Perry and Volker stressed Ukraine’s strategic importance in the region. But nothing was working. “Talk to Rudy,” Trump said. Sondland felt himself getting pissed off.

Senator Johnson felt he was in the strongest position to push back on Trump’s views. He was the only person in the delegation who did not work for the president. He stressed that no one was asking the president to support corrupt oligarchs and politicians. He told Trump: Look, you and Zelensky have a lot in common. Like you, Zelensky is a political newcomer facing strong resistance from entrenched interests, both outside and inside government. A reference to the deep state never hurt with Trump.

Looking for a way forward, Johnson asked Trump if he could keep his reservations about Ukraine private until he met with Zelensky. Trump agreed, but said he wanted Zelensky to know exactly how he felt about corruption in his country before arranging any sort of visit. As they got up to leave after about 20 minutes, Sondland didn’t know where they stood. Maybe Trump would make a phone call to Zelensky. Maybe not. Maybe he would be willing to meet with Zelensky at some point. Maybe not.

There was only one clear directive. “Talk to Rudy,” Trump said. Rudy would set them straight.



Sondland didn’t like the idea of involving Giuliani. He thought the State Department should be carrying out Trump’s policy in Ukraine. He didn’t understand why the president’s personal lawyer should be involved at all. But Trump didn’t trust his own diplomats and analysts, just like he didn’t trust much of the FBI or the Department of Justice. Sondland resigned himself to the idea that serving the interests of the United States, and a president he admired, meant talking to Rudy.

The meeting was most jarring for Volker, who knew Ukraine so well and U.S. foreign policy in the region. Perry was a former governor of Texas. Sondland was a wealthy hotelier who got his job because he was a Trump megadonor. Johnson had a keen interest in Ukraine, but his background was running a business in Wisconsin before being elected to Congress. Volker had worked as a CIA analyst, had spent years in Europe as a diplomat and had served as U.S. ambassador to NATO.

Volker had two options, he told himself. He could ignore the problem, at the expense of U.S. policy and Ukraine. Or he could try to fix it. Not much of a choice, he felt. He would talk to Giuliani. People at the State Department and the NSC would be furious. They would tell him, no, that’s crazy, it can’t work, the Ukrainians won’t understand what’s going on, we don’t need Giuliani and his irregular channel.

But Volker had convinced himself that it was the only way to go. Yes, it was risky. Yes, it was unorthodox. What else could they do?

He didn’t share with Bill Taylor any details from the Oval Office meeting. That would have ended any possibility of Taylor taking the Kyiv job. Better to wait for Taylor to talk with Pompeo. A conversation with the secretary wouldn’t satisfy all of Taylor’s concerns, but it might get him to yes. Volker hoped Taylor could be turned around. If they were going to contain Giuliani, it would be important to have a like-minded ally at the embassy.



Even as Harwell was preparing his story about the “drunk” Pelosi video, word about it was spreading. Rudy Giuliani had tweeted a link to it, asking: “What is wrong with Nancy Pelosi? Her speech pattern is bizarre.” Giuliani eventually deleted the tweet, but his original message was clear evidence that the video was being seen in conservative circles.

Later on Thursday, President Trump tweeted a different video taken from the Fox Business Network, a selectively edited clip focused on Pelosi’s pauses and verbal stumbles. The two videos fed into what Pelosi’s defenders have called sexist and conspiratorial portrayals of the health of America’s highest-ranking elected woman. They also resembled political videos that posed similar questions about Hillary Clinton’s fitness in 2016.

Just before 3 p.m., not quite eight hours after Harwell had first seen the tip, his story went online, along with side-to-side clips of the original video and the doctored one. His queries to officials at YouTube, Twitter and Facebook had produced widely different responses. YouTube immediately removed the videos because they violated “clear policies that outline what content is not acceptable to post.” Twitter did not take the video down. The company declined to comment, but its published policies permitted “inaccurate statements about an elected official” as long as they didn’t include efforts at election manipulation.

Facebook declined to remove the video, even after its own independent fact-checking groups, Lead Stories and PolitiFact, had deemed the video to be fake. “We don’t have a policy that stipulates that the information you post on Facebook must be true,” Facebook said in a statement. The company said it would “heavily reduce” the video’s appearances in people’s news feeds and append an informational box with links to the fact-check sites.

Pelosi herself didn’t raise much of a fuss about the fakes. She was used to online assaults. There was probably not much use in fighting them anyway. After Facebook decided not to pull the fake video, Facebook groups kept promoting it. The Politics WatchDog page hosted a user poll with the question: “Should Pelosi video be taken down?” When a majority voted no, the page’s administrator wrote, “The people have spoken. Video stays.”

That was posted alongside an emoji of a wineglass.
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